

Universiteit Leiden

ICT in Business and the Public Sector

Coping with Integrating Enterprise Architectures in Case of Mergers & Acquisitions

Name: D.W. van Horssen Student-no: s2623706

Date: 30/06/2021

1st supervisor: Drs. J.B. Kruiswijk 2nd supervisor: Dr. J. Wang

MASTER'S THESIS

Leiden Institute of Advanced Computer Science (LIACS) Leiden University Niels Bohrweg 1 2333 CA Leiden The Netherlands

Coping with Integrating Enterprise Architectures in Case of Mergers & Acquisitions

Daan van Horssen

Leiden Institute of Advanced Computer Science (LIACS) Niels Bohrweg 1, 2333 CA Leiden, The Netherlands

June 30, 2021

Abstract

Enterprises are increasingly getting involved in Mergers and Acquisitions (M&As). The majority of M&As (70 to 90%) will turn out to be a failure, as it does not reap the envisaged benefits. There is not just one type of M&A: an enterprise can acquire an organization and integrate it (or not), or it can merge with one to form a new organization. When organizations are subject to an M&A, two separate Enterprise Architectures can be distinguished, (1) the Enterprise Architecture of the parent organization, the organization which acquires an organization and (2) the Enterprise Architecture of the target organization, the organization that is subject to getting acquired by or merged with the parent organization. During this M&A process, it is inevitable that something happens with these two separate Enterprise Architectures. The goal of this research is to find out how organizations can cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures in case of M&As. Coping with integrating Enterprise Architectures during M&As, starts by distinguishing the different types of M&As which an organization can engage in. This inductive and exploratory research had a focus on four categories of M&As which are based on different types and approaches to M&As. Qualitative research methods were used in order to gather data for each of the 12 researched cases. Based on experiences from these M&As that occurred in the past, the impact on the Enterprise Architecture as well as best practices, challenges, and common pitfalls for integrating Enterprise Architectures in case of M&As, have been described in general and on a category basis. When coping with integrating Enterprise Architectures during M&As, the first question that must be asked is: should we even integrate in the first place or is it better to keep the acquired

organization separate? In the end, this research created some sort of lessons learned/handbook for future M&As. However, it must be noted that the context of every M&A is very important as a lot of variable factors play a role in an M&A transaction. Nevertheless, this study gives a good impression of what usually goes wrong (and right) and what points should be kept in mind from an Enterprise Architecture perspective when engaging in M&As.

Key words: Enterprise Architecture, Mergers & Acquisitions, Integration

Acknowledgements

I would like to begin this thesis by taking the time to express my gratitude towards those that helped and supported me throughout the entirety of my thesis project.

First of all, I would like to thank my first supervisor Bas Kruiswijk for his time and support during this project. I also would like to thank Jian Wang for being my second supervisor and helping in shaping this research.

Last but not least, I would like to thank everyone at the host organization, especially my two company supervisors Stephan Bon and Samira el Haddioui, for their support and willingness to help me by giving me this opportunity in these strange and difficult times for all of us..

> Daan van Horssen Den Hoorn, June 30, 2021

Contents

A	cknov	ledgements V	T
Li	st of	Figures X	I
Li	st of	Tables XII	I
1	Intr	oduction	L
	1.1	Problem Statement	1
	1.2	Objectives	2
	1.3	Research Questions	2
	1.4	Research Outline	3
2	Lite	cature Review 4	1
	2.1	Enterprise Architecture	1
		2.1.1 Definition \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	1
		2.1.2 Reasoning & Benefits	5
		2.1.3 Architecture Domains	3
		2.1.4 Frameworks	3
		2.1.5 Implementation \ldots 14	1
		2.1.6 Maturity)
	2.2	Mergers & Acquisitions	3
		2.2.1 Definition	3
		2.2.2 The M&A Process	3
		2.2.3 Types of M&As	3
		2.2.4 Approaches to M&As 28	3
		2.2.5 Drivers of M&As)
		2.2.6 Risks of M&As)
	2.3	M&As from an Enterprise Architecture perspective	2
		2.3.1 Value of Enterprise Architecture in M&As	2
		2.3.2 Usage of Enterprise Architecture in M&As 38	5
		2.3.3 Integrating Enterprise Architectures during M&As 40)
3	Res	arch Methodology 42	2
	3.1	Literature Review	2
	3.2	Category Selection	3
		3.2.1 Category Dimensions	3

		3.2.2 Categories
	3.3	Data Gathering
		3.3.1 Environment
		3.3.2 Document Analysis
		3.3.3 Desk Research
		3.3.4 Interviews
	3.4	Data Analysis
		3.4.1 The Grounded Theory
		3.4.2 Coding 50
		3.4.3 Creation of Results
	3.5	Validation
	3.6	Overview
4	\mathbf{Res}	
	4.1	General
		4.1.1 Integration Consideration
		4.1.2 Stand-Alone M&As 57
		4.1.3 Absorption M&As 58
		4.1.4 Enterprise Architecture Maturity 63
	4.2	Category 1
		4.2.1 Description
		4.2.2 Impact on Enterprise Architecture
		4.2.3 Findings
	4.3	Category 2
		4.3.1 Description
		4.3.2 Impact on Enterprise Architecture
		4.3.3 Findings
	4.4	Category 3
		4.4.1 Description
		4.4.2 Impact on Enterprise Architecture
		4.4.3 Findings
	4.5	Category 4
		4.5.1 Description
		4.5.2 Impact on Enterprise Architecture
		4.5.3 Findings
	4.6	Validation
		4.6.1 Interview 1
		4.6.2 Interview 2
5		cussion 80
	5.1	Summary of key findings
	5.2	Research Questions
	5.3	Limitations
	5.4	Future Work85

6	Conclusion	86
	6.1 Reflection	87
Bi	bliography	89
A	Interview Protocol	95
в	Interview Transcripts	98
С	Codebook	99
D	Themes in the Data	100
Е	Memos	102
F	Validation Interview Protocol	103
\mathbf{G}	Validation Interview Transcripts	105

 \mathbf{IX}

List of Figures

2.1	Benefits of using Enterprise Architecture	6
2.2	Business Architecture Framework	7
2.3	Relationship of Architecture Domains	8
2.4	Zachman Architecture Framework	9
2.5	The Open Group Architecture Framework	10
2.6	The Architecture Capability Framework	10
2.7	The Open Group Architecture Development Method	11
2.8	The Architecture Content Framework	11
2.9	The Enterprise Continuum	12
2.10		12
	Technology view of the BOST Framework	13
	TOGAF principle template	15
	An example principle of IT Responsibility	15
	Example of an Enterprise Architecture Road Map	16
	ArchiMate Framework	16
	Example of an ArchiMate Model	17
	TOGAF's ADM mapped to the ArchiMate Framework	18
	TOGAF Viewpoints	19
	Four stages of Enterprise Architecture Maturity	21
	Effect of Enterprise Architecture Maturity on flexibility	22
	Number of M&A deals in the Netherlands	23
	M&A process by Freitag and Schulz (2012)	24
	The five phases of the M&A process by Gartner	24
	M&A process by the Corporate Finance Institute	26
	Gartner's MAD Integration Models	29
	The Enterprise Reference Model of Cisco	38
	The LoS between two Enterprise Architectures during M&As $\ . \ .$	40
2.28	Building Blocks of Enterprise Architecture and Integration	41
3.1	The Category Selection Model	46
3.2	M&A cases at the host organization plotted on the Category	10
0.4	Selection Model	46
3.3	Types of coding that can be applied in Qualitative research	40 50
3.4	Example of going from coding to theory development	50 51
$3.4 \\ 3.5$	The coding process in qualitative research	$51 \\ 52$
0.0	The county process in quantative research	04

3.6	The Research Process	53
4.1	Distribution of synergies during M&As	55
4.2	Category 1 M&A	64
4.3	Category 2 M&A	66
4.4	Category 3 M&A	70
4.5	Category 4 M&A	72

List of Tables

	20
	27
	34
iew	43
	47
	10
	iew

Chapter _

Introduction

1.1 Problem Statement

The topic of Enterprise Architecture started to get increasing attention in the late 1980s [21]. The Enterprise Architecture of an organization can be very complex and practice shows that it is often not clear what Enterprise Architecture exactly is and what this term comprises: Is it just the IT application landscape or infrastructure of an organization or is it more than that? In general, Enterprise Architecture can be described as a coherent set of principles, methods, and models used in designing and comprehending the structure of an enterprise, including their business processes, information systems, and IT infrastructure [35]. In section 2.1 Enterprise Architecture, the topic of Enterprise Architecture will be discussed more in depth. Next to that, many organizations are subject to M&As. The term "merger" refers to the merging of two organization where one new organization will continue to exist and the term "acquisition" refers to the acquisition of assets by one organization from another organization [20]. In section 2.2 Mergers & Acquisitions, the topic of M&As will be discussed more in depth. In 2020, the number of M&As in The Netherlands grew for the 6^{th} year in a row [13]. For many enterprises, M&As are not considered as individual events, but rather represent common instruments of modern business strategies [22]. In addition, the phenomenon of M&As are among the biggest challenges for enterprises and their IT organizations to navigate [5]. In case of an M&A, there are two (or more) separate Enterprise Architectures that can be distinguished:

- 1. The Enterprise Architecture of the parent organization (acquirer) the organization that acquires an organization.
- 2. The Enterprise Architecture of the target organization (acquired entity) the organization which is subject to getting acquired by an organization.

It is inevitable that something needs to happen with these two separate Enterprise Architectures during an M&A. It is likely that these two Enterprise Architectures need to be integrated and formed into one single Enterprise Architecture during an M&A. In subsection 2.3.3 Integrating Enterprise Architectures during M&As, it is described how Umar (2010) calls this situation 'a real headache' for enterprises and that this situation is typically referred to as the 'information silo' problem: M&As introduce multiple silos of information that are introducing more complexity and duplication [68]. However, what is exactly the impact of an M&A on the Enterprise Architecture? What exactly happens and how does the Enterprise Architecture changes during an M&A? How can Enterprise Architectures be integrated in case of M&As? What are common challenges, pitfalls, and best practices for performing this integration from an Enterprise Architecture perspective?

1.2 Objectives

This research is important because there is a gap in the literature and academic research regarding the topic of M&As in combination with Enterprise Architecture. First of all, there is limited literature available about Enterprise Architecture in combination with M&As. On top of that, the limited amount of available literature is mainly focused on how Enterprise Architecture can be used as a guidance tool in the M&A process [18] [28]: what is the relevance and usability of Enterprise Architecture when an organization is subject to a Merger or Acquisition. There is not a focus on what happens with the acquirer's Enterprise Architecture during and/or after it has acquired an organization or merged with one. However, this is not less relevant because, it is inevitable that the Enterprise Architecture of the acquirer will also be subject to change during M&As, as it is likely that these two separate Enterprise Architectures need to be integrated and formed into one single Enterprise Architecture during an M&A. Moreover, as Umar (2010) stated, this integration is 'a real headache' for enterprises as this situation will cause an 'information silo' problem [68]. Next to that, the literature tends to see M&As as a general term or event. However, there are different types of M&As and all these types require different actions to be taken from an Enterprise Architecture perspective. The goal of this research is to find best practices/success factors (and pitfalls) for performing this integration of Enterprise Architectures. In other words: how can organizations cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures in case of M&As. In this research, there will be a focus on several cases of M&As. These M&As will be categorized based on different types and approaches to M&As, because not every M&A is the same and has the same effect on the Enterprise Architecture of an organization.

1.3 Research Questions

In order to solve the problem as given in section 1.1 Problem Statement and to achieve the objectives of the research, research questions have been developed.

The main question of this research is:

"How can organizations cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures in case of Mergers & Acquisitions?" In order to answer this main question, the following sub-questions have been formulated:

- 1. What is Enterprise Architecture?
- 2. What are Mergers & Acquisitions?
- 3. What is the impact of Mergers & Acquisitions on an organization's Enterprise Architecture?
- 4. What are challenges, best practices, pitfalls and strategies for dealing with Mergers & Acquisitions from an Enterprise Architecture perspective?

1.4 Research Outline

This research is an exploratory and inductive research. The theories in this final thesis are developed from an analysis of data. To answer the research questions and for developing these theories, data needs to be gathered. This research will start with a literature review in order to answer the first two sub-questions, and to lay the foundation for answering the remaining sub-questions. After the literature review in chapter 2, the research methodology will be described in chapter 3. This starts by making a selection of the M&A categories that will be subject to this research. These categories are based on different types and approaches to M&As. For each category, data will be gathered. In order to gather this data, qualitative research methods will be used. According to Williams and Moser (2019) qualitative research provides the following opportunities [42]:

- 1. Locate the genesis of a phenomenon.
- 2. Explore possible reasons for its occurrence.
- 3. Codify what the experience of the phenomenon meant to those involved.
- 4. Determine whether the experience of the phenomenon created a theoretical frame or conceptual understanding associated.

Especially, the last two items in this list are applicable to this research. The gathered data will be analysed using coding methods. Williams and Moser (2019) state that: "Coding in qualitative research is comprised of processes that enable collected data to be assembled, categorized, and thematically sorted, providing an organized platform for the construction of meaning [42]." Finally, the results of this research will be presented in chapter 4 of this thesis, and this follows by a discussion and conclusion in chapter 5 and 6.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

A literature review has been performed in order to evaluate existing literature around the topic and to lay the foundation for the methodology of this research. In this chapter, relevant information regarding the topic of this research will be discussed.

2.1 Enterprise Architecture

2.1.1 Definition

Enterprise Architecture and its fundamental logic began to get increasing attention from scientific and practitioner communities in the late 1980s. The increase of attention for Enterprise Architecture was mainly caused by the potential benefits of reducing operating costs, improving project execution, and increasing alignment of business and information technology (IT) [21]. However, what is Enterprise Architecture exactly and what does this term comprises? To better understand the meaning of Enterprise Architecture, it must be clear what these two separate words mean. First of all, an "enterprise". The Open Group considers an "enterprise" to be [64]:

- A whole corporation or a division of a corporation.
- A government agency or a single government department.
- A chain of geographically distant organizations linked together by common ownership.
- Partnerships and alliances of businesses working together, such as a consortium or supply chain.

According the Open Group (2018), the term "Enterprise" in the context of "Enterprise Architecture" can be applied to either (1) an entire enterprise, encompassing all of its business activities and capabilities, information, and technology that make up the entire infrastructure and governance of the enterprise, or to (2) one or more specific areas of interest within the enterprise [64]. Now that is clear what an "enterprise" is, what does "architecture" mean? According to the ISO 42010:100 standard, architecture can be described as: "the fundamental concepts or properties of a system in its environment, embodied in its elements, relationships, and in the principles of its design and evolution" [35]. Now that the definitions of "enterprise" and of "architecture" are clear, what is meant with the combination of these two: Enterprise Architecture?

In 2011, Tamm et al. described Enterprise Architecture as: "the definition and representation of a high-level view of an enterprise's business processes and IT systems, their interrelationships, and the extent to which these processes and systems are shared by different parts of the enterprise" [59]. In general, Enterprise Architecture can be considered as a structured description of the enterprise and its relationships, which may make it the fundamental "management information system" for the enterprise. Enterprise Architecture offers an integrated representation of different enterprise layers in descriptive models of current (as-is) and future (to-be) states. At the highest level, these enterprise layers can be distinguished as business architecture and IT architecture [21]. Gartner describes Enterprise Architecture as: "a discipline for proactively and holistically leading enterprise responses to disruptive forces by identifying and analyzing the execution of change toward desired business vision and outcomes" [24]. Gartner states that Enterprise Architecture delivers value by presenting business and IT leaders with signature-ready recommendations for adjusting policies and projects to achieve targeted business outcomes that capitalize on relevant business disruptions [24]. On top of that, Gartner considers it the role of Enterprise Architects to support business and IT executives by identifying and analyzing business value derived from technology [1]. In 2005, Bernard stated that Enterprise Architecture defines a clear relationship between strategic planning, business planning and IT planning to meet the various needs of multiple stakeholders within an enterprise [6]. According to Boh and Yellin (2007) Enterprise Architecture can be summarized as the documentation of an organization's current (as-is) and proposed future (to-be) state in order to identify and align information resources with an organization's core goals and strategic direction [45].

To conclude, there are a lot of different definitions of what Enterprise Architecture exactly is. But in some way everything comes down to the following description: Enterprise Architecture is a coherent set of principles, methods, and models used in designing and comprehending the structure of an enterprise, including their business processes, information systems, and IT infrastructure [35]. Enterprise Architecture aligns the business and the IT landscape in organizations concurrently by managing the increasing system complexity [47].

2.1.2 Reasoning & Benefits

Niemi and Pekkola (2019) did research into the provisioned benefits and reasoning for using Enterprise Architecture. The benefits range from very abstract ones like business–IT alignment and improving decision-making, to concrete and measurable benefits such as reducing costs [44]. They noted that the variety of

benefits make it difficult to comprehend where they stem from, or what their mutual interrelationships are. They believe that this is caused by the fact that very few studies actually define the benefits of Enterprise Architecture explicitly [44]. Figure 2.1 Benefits of using Enterprise Architecture is a categorization model, developed by Niemi and Pekkola (2019), with provisioned benefits of using Enterprise Architecture:

Weakly	/ Indirect			Strategic		
	Improved alignment with partners	Improved asset management	Improved business processes	Improved alignment to business	Improved business-IT alignment	
	Improved customer orientation	Improved innovation	Improved management of IT investments	strategy Improved change	Improved communication	
<i>V</i> .	Improved risk management	Improved staff management	Increased efficiency	management	Increased	
le to E	Increased market value	Increased quality	Reduced complexity	strategic agility	stability	
ab	Hard			Intangible		
but		Hard		Intar	gible	
Attributable to EA	Increas econom of scale	ed Incr ies inter	eased roperability integration	Intar Evolutionary EA development & governance	gible Improved decision making	
Attribut	econom	ed Incr ies inter and ed Incr	roperability	Evolutionary EA development &	Improved decision	
Attribut	econom of scale	ed Incr ies inter and ed Incr lity stan- d Shor	roperability integration eased	Evolutionary EA development & governance Provides a holistic	Improved decision	
<i>Inqi.iIIF</i> Strongly	econom of scale Increas reusabil Reduce	ed Incr ies inter and ed Incr lity stan- d Shor	roperability integration eased dardization rtened	Evolutionary EA development & governance Provides a holistic view of	Improved decision	

Quantifiable

Non-Quantifiable

Figure 2.1: Benefits of using Enterprise Architecture

Measurable

2.1.3 Architecture Domains

According to The Open Group, the overall Enterprise Architecture is usually divided into the following four, commonly accepted, architecture domains [65]:

1. Business Architecture - The domain of Business Architecture focuses on defining the business strategy, governance, organization, and key business processes within the enterprise. The Business Architecture guild has developed the Bizbok¹ guide. They see this guide as: "as the emerging standard for building, deploying, and leveraging business architecture

 $^{^1\}mathrm{Bizbok}$ stands for: Business Architecture Body of Knowledge

within an organization [69]." Bizbok comprises a core set of Business Architecture concepts and artifacts that enables an enterprise to create, communicate and manage their Business Architecture. Figure 2.2 Business Architecture Framework shows the Bizbok Business Architecture framework [69]:



Figure 2.2: Business Architecture Framework

- 2. Data Architecture The domain of Data Architecture is concerned with the structure of logical and physical data assets and data management resources within the enterprise [65]. A Data Architecture of an enterprise consists of the following three components according to Olasvrud [46]:
 - (a) Outcomes These are models, definitions, and data flows. These are also known as artifacts.
 - (b) Activities These are forms, deploys, and fulfills of data architecture intentions.
 - (c) Behaviors These are the collaborations, mindsets, and skills of the various roles that affect an enterprise's data architecture.
- 3. Application Architecture According to The Open Group, the Application Architecture: "provides a blueprint for the individual applications to be deployed, their interactions, and their relationships to the core business processes of the organization." [65] The Data Architecture and Application Architecture are both combined into the Information Systems Architecture [4].

4. **Technology Architecture** - The domain of Technology Architecture defines the logical software and hardware capabilities that are needed for an enterprise to support the deployment of the three previous mentioned architectures. Examples are the IT infrastructure, networks, communications, middle-ware etc.

Figure 2.3 Relationship of Architecture Domains depicts an overview of the relationship of the Business, Data, Application, and Technology Architectures [4]:



Figure 2.3: Relationship of Architecture Domains

2.1.4 Frameworks

An Enterprise Architecture Framework (EAF) maps all of the processes within the enterprise and how they relate and interact to fulfill the enterprise's mission [43]. The implementation of Enterprise Architecture (the Enterprise Architecture Methodology) often leads to an Enterprise Architecture Framework, which is a structure that defines the scope of the Enterprise Architecture and the relation of its components [6]. As of today, there are several Enterprise Architecture standards and frameworks such as TOGAF, MODAF, BOST and the Zachman Architecture Framework. TOGAF (The Open Group Architecture Framework) can be considered the 'de facto standard', it has been widely adopted and currently 80% of the Global 50 companies and 60% of the Fortune 500 companies employ it [47]. In this section, multiple common and well-known Enterprise Architecture Frameworks will be described.

2.1.4.1 Zachman Architecture Framework

The Zachman Architecture Framework was first introduced in an IBM Systems Journal in 1987 and it is based on the concepts in 'classical' architecture. This makes it the first (and additionally the best-known) architecture framework that has been developed, making it one of the pioneers in the Enterprise Architecture domain [43]. The framework is easy to understand and it addresses the enterprise as a whole. The framework consists of a generic set of architectural descriptions and different views for each of the defined stakeholders [35]. The Zachman Framework has no explicit compliance rules since it is not a standard written by or for a professional organization [43]. The framework contains six aspects or views: Data (what), Function (how), Network (where), People (who), Time (when) and Motivation (why) [35]. Figure 2.4 Zachman Architecture Framework shows the Zachman Architecture Framework:

	WHAT	How	WHERE	Wно	WHEN	WHY	
Scope Contexts	Inventory Identification *g.	Process Identification *g. Process Types	Hetwork Identification +g. Hetwork Types	Organization Identification *g. Organization Types	Timing Identification +g. Timing Types	Motivation Identification +g. United States Motivation Types	STRATEGISTS AS THEORISTS
BUSINESS CONCEPTS	Inventory Definition *0. Business Entity Business Relationship	Process Definition eg. Definition Business Transform Business Input	Hetwork Definition e.g. Business Location Business Connection	Organization Definition e Business Role Business Work	Timing Definition eg. Business Cycle Business Moment	Motivation Definition + g. Business End Business Means	EXECUTIVE LEADERS AS OWNERS
System Logic	Inventory Representation *9. System Entity System Relationship	Process Representation e.g. System Transform System Input	Network Representation e.g.	Organization Representation e.g. System Role System Work	Timing Representation eg. System Cycle System Moment	Motivation Representation +9. System End System Means	ARCHITECTS AS DESIGNERS
Technology Physics	Inventory Specification *9. Technology Entity Technology Relationship	Process Specification *g. Souther Specification Technology Transform Technology Input	Hetwork Specification e.g. Technology Location Technology Connection	Organization Specification +g. Technology Role Technology Work	Timing Specification •g. Technology Cycle Technology Moment	Motivation Specification *9. Technology End Technology Means	Engineers As Builders
Component Assemblies	Inventory Configuration *9. Component Entity Component Relationship	Process Configuration *g. Component Transform Component Input	Iletwork Configuration eg.	Organization Configuration *g. Component Role Component Work	Timing Configuration eg. Component Cycle Component Moment	Motivation Configuration +g. Component End Component Means	Technicians as Implementers
OPERATIONS CLASSES	Inventory Instantiation	Process Instantiation	Iletwork Instantiation	Organization Instantiation	Timing Instantiation eg. Operations Cycle Operations Moment	Motivation Instantiation *0 Operations End Operations Means	Workers as Participants
	INVENTORY SETS	PROCESS TRANSFORMATIONS	Network Nodes	ORGANIZATION GROUPS	Timing Periods	MOTIVATION REASONS	

THE ZACHMAN ENTERPRISE FRAMEWORK^{2 TM}

Figure 2.4: Zachman Architecture Framework

The Zachman framework does not provide guidance on sequence, process, or implementation, but rather focuses on ensuring that all of the views are well established. This is in order to ensure a complete system regardless of the order in which the systems were established [43].

2.1.4.2 The Open Group Architecture Framework

In 1995, The Open Group presented the first version of The Open Group Architecture Framework (TOGAF) [43]. TOGAF is a framework as well as a method. TOGAF consists of multiple frameworks and methods with the goal to align business vision and drivers with the business capabilities. In Figure 2.5 The Open Group Architecture Framework, this framework is shown:



Figure 2.5: The Open Group Architecture Framework

In The Open Group Architecture Framework, four main components (frameworks and methods) can be distinguished:

1. The Architecture Capability Framework - This framework addresses the organization, process, skills, roles and responsibilities required to establish and operate an architecture function within an enterprise [35]:



Figure 2.6: The Architecture Capability Framework

2. The Architecture Development Method (ADM) - This method is an iterative sequence of steps to develop the enterprise-wide architecture. It can be considered as a 'way-of-working' for Enterprise Architects. In Figure 2.7 The Open Group Architecture Development Method, the steps of the ADM are shown [35]:



Figure 2.7: The Open Group Architecture Development Method

3. The Architecture Content Framework - This framework considers an overall Enterprise Architecture as composed of four closely interrelated architectures: Business Architecture, Data Architecture, Application Architecture, and Technology (IT) Architecture [62]:



Figure 2.8: The Architecture Content Framework

4. The Enterprise Continuum - The Enterprise Continuum comprises various reference models, such as the Technical Reference Model, The Open Group's Standards Information Base (SIB), and The Building Blocks Information Base (BBIB). The idea behind the Enterprise Continuum is to illustrate how architectures are developed across a continuum ranging from foundational architectures, through common systems architectures and industry-specific architectures, to an enterprise's own individual architecture [64].



Figure 2.9: The Enterprise Continuum

2.1.4.3 BOST Framework

The BOST Framework, developed in 1992 by Art Caston, provides a structure for enterprise models and their elements and relationships [30]. Figure 2.10 The BOST Framework shows the BOST Framework:



Figure 2.10: The BOST Framework

BOST stands for: Business, Operations, Systems and Technology. These are also the four views of the BOST Framework. In the BOST framework, enterprise requirements (left-hand side) flow downward through the four framework views, starting with the external market opportunities and stakeholder interests (the marketplace). The capabilities (right-hand side) flow upward in response to these requirements, starting from the arrival of new technologies. The key determinant of business success is how well an enterprise can align their (IT) capabilities with the constantly changing requirements in all four views [30]. Each view of the BOST Framework consists of more elaborate reference models on its own. The reference models for each view are providing the basis for the identification of the complete set of enterprise capabilities based on the requirements of the business [30]. For instance, the Technology Reference model of an organization could look like this:



Figure 2.11: Technology view of the BOST Framework

In each view can be dived deeper for more specific details. The "foundational services" of the Technology view, for instance, includes services like database, storage management, access control etc. In the BOST Framework the services of the Technology view are linked with the services in the Systems view which on their part are again linked to services in the Operations view which then finally leads to services in the Business view [30].

2.1.5 Implementation

Bernard (2005) published several common terminologies in relation to Enterprise Architecture and its implementation. Enterprise Architecture Methodology means how an Enterprise Architecture is implemented in an organization. This implementation of Enterprise Architecture (the Enterprise Architecture Methodology) often leads to an Enterprise Architecture Framework, which is a structure that defines the scope of the Enterprise Architecture and the relation of its components [6]. Most organizations deploy some sort of Enterprise Architecture program. In order to develop an Enterprise Architecture program, two main steps must be performed by organizations [6]:

- 1. Developing an architecture framework.
- 2. Developing an implementation methodology to develop, maintain and use the Enterprise Architecture.

During the first step, the development of an architecture framework, the scope of the organization that will be documented by the Enterprise Architecture must be identified. In the second step, the relationships between major business units and processes within the specified scope must be identified. The Enterprise Architecture framework can be divided into current (as-is) and future (to-be) views [6]. The as-is view documents the existing resources and alignment of an organization's strategic goals to its IT resources. The to-be view of the Enterprise Architecture extends these goals to fill performance gaps identified in the as-is architecture view [6]. The implementation of Enterprise Architecture needs to be controlled and managed in some way. Enterprise Architecture Governance refers to Enterprise Architecture activities that involves defining guidance of decision rights and the required processes, policies and procedures for the successful execution of investment decisions in support of the business and IT strategy and direction [1].

2.1.5.1 Principles

As stated previously, Enterprise Architecture is a coherent set of principles, methods, and models used in designing and comprehending the structure of an enterprise [35]. Methods and models have been covered already, but principles have not. The Open Group states that: "Principles are general rules and guidelines, intended to be enduring and seldom amended, that inform and support the way in which an organization sets about fulfilling its mission [60]. In terms of Enterprise Architecture, principles are reflecting a level of consensus across the enterprise, and embody the spirit and thinking of existing enterprise principles. Architecture Principles govern the architecture process, affecting the development, maintenance, and use of the Enterprise Architecture [60]. In terms of principles, TOGAF explains rules for developing good principles, rather than providing a set of architecture principles [43]. Each principle has a short name, a statement that states what the principle is, the rationale states why, and the implications state the effect of the principle [60]. In Figure 2.12 TOGAF principle template a template of a principle is given:

Name	Should both represent the essence of the rule as well as be easy to remember. Specific technology platforms should not be mentioned in the name or statement of a principle. Avoid ambiguous words in the Name and in the Statement such as: "support," "copen", "consider", and for lack of good measure the word "avoid", itself, be careful with "manage(ment)", and look for unnecessary adjectives and adverbs (fluff).
Statement	Should succinctly and unambiguously communicate the fundamental rule. For the most part, the principles statements for managing information are similar from one organization to the next. It is vital that the principles statement is unambiguous.
Rationale	Should highlight the business benefits of adhering to the principle, using business terminology. Point to the similarity of information and technology principles to the principles governing business operations. Also describe the relationship to other principles, and the intentions regarding a balanced interpretation. Describe situations where one principle would be given precedence or carry more weight than another for making a decision.
Implications	Should highlight the requirements, both for the business and IT, for carrying out the principle - in terms of resources, costs, and activities/tasks. It will often be apparent that current systems, standards, or practices would be incongruent with the principle upon adoption. The impact to the business and consequences of adopting a principle should be clearly stated. The reader should readily discern the answer to: "How does this affect me?". It is important not to oversimplify, trivialize, or judge the merit of the impact. Some of the implications will be identified as potential impacts only, and may be speculative rather than fully analyzed.

Figure 2.12: TOGAF principle template

In Figure 2.13 An example principle of IT Responsibility a practical example is given of a principle according to TOGAF's template [60]:

Principle 8: IT Responsibility

Statement

The IT organization is responsible for owning and implementing IT processes and infrastructure that enable solutions to meet user-defined requirements for functionality, service levels, cost, and delivery timing. Rationale: Effectively align expectations with capabilities and costs so that all projects are cost-effective. Efficient and effective solutions have reasonable costs and clear benefits. Implications:

A process must be created to prioritize projects The IT function must define processes to manage business unit expectations

Data, application, and technology models must be created to enable integrated quality solutions and to maximize results

Figure 2.13: An example principle of IT Responsibility

2.1.5.2 Road Maps

Enterprise Architecture Road Maps are commonly describing the incremental steps to close the gap from a current (as-is) state to a future (to-be) state [49]. This road map is often a concise (not in-depth) and graphical depiction of a planned migration toward a future state. An Enterprise Architecture Road Map functions as a planning document that is laying out activities or changes over time. Often these road maps are highlighting the interdependencies between these streams of activity that convey an organization from a current (as-is) state to a desired future (to-be) state [49]. Enterprise Architecture Road Maps provide useful information to the key stakeholders. Robertson (2006) states that it is important to note that Enterprise Architecture Road Maps are not a complete rendering of all the Enterprise Architecture guidance within an organization. With the use of road maps, organizations are trying to make their Enterprise Architecture more actionable and it functions as part of the communication to key stakeholders [49]. Figure 2.14 Example of an Enterprise Architecture Road Map shows an example of an Enterprise Architecture Road Map:



Figure 2.14: Example of an Enterprise Architecture Road Map

2.1.5.3 Enterprise Modeling

The process of describing Enterprise Architectures is also known as Enterprise Modeling [35]. ArchiMate is a common modeling language for Enterprise Modeling. ArchiMate is the technical standard of The Open Group. ArchiMate provides a uniform representation for diagrams that describe Enterprise Architectures [66]. In Figure 2.15 ArchiMate Framework, the ArchiMate framework is shown:



Figure 2.15: ArchiMate Framework

There are three aspects in the ArchiMate Framework: active structure, behaviour, and passive structure. These aspects are derived from natural languages: they correspond to the subject-verb-object elements that all human languages exhibit [16]. An active structure element represents an entity that is capable of performing behavior. An behavior element represents a unit of activity that can be performed by one or more active structure elements. A passive structure element represents an element on which behavior is performed. Next to these three aspects, ArchiMate distinguishes three main layers [35]:

- **Business Layer** products and services to external customers, which are realised in the organization by business processes (performed by business actors or roles).
- **Application Layer** supports the business layer with application services which are realised by (software) application components.
- **Technology Layer** offers infrastructural services (e.g., processing, storage, and communication services) needed to run applications, realised by computer and communication devices and system software.

Figure 2.16 Example of an ArchiMate Model shows an example of what an ArchiMate model could look like in an insurance company [63]:



Figure 2.16: Example of an ArchiMate Model

In this figure, the technology layer is providing services which the application layer makes use of (a database management system provides a database management service which the CRM system uses). This makes it possible to provide application services to the business layer in which it is possible to provide business services. This simple example shows how the cross-layer relationships integrate the different layers, and how this can be depicted in one view with ArchiMate [66].

The ArchiMate language and its analysis techniques support pretty much all of TOGAF's diagrammatic views [35], the framework that has been described in subsubsection 2.1.4.2 The Open Group Architecture Framework. TOGAF's views and viewpoints will be discussed more in-depth in the next subsection. Thus, TOGAF and ArchiMate can easily be used in conjunction, and they cover much of the same ground. This is where ArchiMate nicely complements TO-GAF: it provides a vendor independent, standardised set of concepts that helps to create a consistent, integrated model 'below the waterline', which can be depicted in the form of TOGAF's views [35]. The three-layered Business, Application and Technology structure of ArchiMate, as shown in Figure 2.15 ArchiMate Framework and in Figure 2.16 Example of an ArchiMate Model, neatly corresponds with the three main architectural domains of TOGAF's Architecture Development Method (ADM). In Figure 2.17 TOGAF's ADM mapped to the ArchiMate Framework this correspondence is being shown:



Figure 2.17: TOGAF's ADM mapped to the ArchiMate Framework

To conclude, the TOGAF and ArchiMate standards can easily be used in conjunction according to The Open Group (2019). The two standards complement each other with respect to the definition of an architecture development process and the definition of an Enterprise Architecture modeling language. Next to that, the two standards also overlap in their use of viewpoints and the combined usage can support a better communication with stakeholders [66].

2.1.5.4 Views & Viewpoints

After pointing out what Enterprise Architecture is, discussing terminologies, road maps, Enterprise Architecture Frameworks and the modeling of Enterprise Architectures, the last significant part of Enterprise Architecture gets touched upon: Views and Viewpoints. According to Lankhorst (2017), the architecture of an enterprise cannot be expressed in just an one-dimensional way. It is not possible to represent the whole architecture of an enterprise with just a single view. Also no stakeholder, apart from perhaps the Enterprise Architects, are interested in the full scope Enterprise Architecture [35]. In order to address the concerns of different stakeholders within an organization, different views must focus on these concerns. Therefore viewpoints and views are implemented in Enterprise Architectures. Viewpoint is a way of looking at a system and a view is what is seen when looking from a chosen viewpoint [35]. According to The Open Group (2013): "In general, a view is defined as a part of an architecture description that addresses a set of related concerns and is addressed to a set of stakeholders. A view is specified by means of a viewpoint, which prescribes the concepts, models, analysis techniques, and visualizations that are provided by the view" [61]. In Figure 2.18 TOGAF Viewpoints typical viewpoints are given according to The Open Group:



Figure 2.18: TOGAF Viewpoints

The top half of Figure 2.18 TOGAF Viewpoints shows the purpose dimension and the bottom half shows the level of abstraction (or detail) [61]. In the modeling language ArchiMate, which has been described in subsubsection 2.1.5.3 Enterprise Modeling, viewpoints are a selection of a relevant subset of Archi-Mate concepts (and their relationships) and the representation of that part of an architecture that is expressed in different ArchiMate diagrams [66]. These viewpoints have been developed based on practical experience and some of these viewpoints are scoped to a single layer or aspect. The Business Function and Business Process viewpoints for instance, show the two main perspectives on the business behavior [61]. Table 2.1 Description of TOGAF viewpoints shows the typical stakeholders, the purpose and examples for each of the viewpoints that are given in Figure 2.18 TOGAF Viewpoints:

	Typical Stake-	Purpose	Examples
	holders		
Designing	architect, soft-	navigate, design,	UML diagram,
	ware developer,	support design	BPMN diagram,
	business process	decisions, compare	flowchart, ER
	designer	alternatives	diagram
Deciding	manager, CIO,	decision-making	cross-reference
	CEO		table, landscape
			map, list, report
Informing	employee, cus-	explain, convince,	animation, car-
	tomer, others	obtain commit-	toon, process
		ment	illustration, chart
Details	software engineer,	design, manage	UML class dia-
	process owner		gram, BPMN pro-
			cess diagram
Coherence	operational man-	analyze dependen-	views expressing
	agers	cies, impact of-	relationships like
		change	"use", "realize",
			and "assign"
Overview	Enterprise Archi-	change manage-	landscape map
	tect, CIO, CEO	ment	

Table 2.1: Description of TOGAF viewpoints

2.1.6 Maturity

Enterprise Architecture Maturity has to do with how mature the deployment and implementation of Enterprise Architecture is within an organization. The maturity of an organization's Enterprise Architecture is related to the fact whether it is a strategic capability for the organization [34]. Korhonen and Molnar (2014) are stating that Enterprise Architecture can be defined as a strategic capability: "it pertains to the strategic application of competencies to organize and utilize the organization-specific resources towards desired ends". They note that the value of Enterprise Architecture is at the organizing level, linking between strategy and execution, and guiding the evolution of the operational core [34]. In many organizations, the purpose of Enterprise Architecture is to enable the translation of strategic initiatives, based on a corporate vision, into executable components that can be measured and operated. In such organizations, it is highly likely that Enterprise Architecture would have a meaningful impact on its ability to remain agile, responsive and adaptive to a changing business environment [67]. The Center of Information Systems Research (2006) introduced the four stages of Enterprise Architecture maturity. Figure 2.19 Four stages of Enterprise Architecture Maturity shows these four stages of Enterprise Architecture Maturity [50]:



Figure 2.19: Four stages of Enterprise Architecture Maturity

The model shows the path which most organizations flow through when developing their Enterprise Architecture over time.

- 1. The first stage is **Business Silos**. Around 12% of the 103 organizations, which were part of research conducted by the Center of Information Systems Research, can be placed in this stage. Typical for this stage are locally optimized business solutions rather than enterprise wide solutions.
- 2. The second stage is **Standardized Technology**. Around 48% of the firms are in this stage, meaning that most firms will find themselves being in this stage. Typical for this stage is to have enterprise-wide technology standards, for instance shared IT infrastructure and a reduced number of

IT platforms and software products. The management of technology is more centralized.

- 3. The third stage of Enterprise Architecture maturity is **Optimized Core**. 34% of the firms will find themselves being in this stage. A characteristic for this stage is the standardization of enterprise processes and data. The previous stage was more of a technological challenge in order to standardize technology, this stage is more of an organizational challenge in order to take control over business process design [50].
- 4. The fourth and final stage of Enterprise Architecture Maturity is **Business Modularity**. Only 6% of the firms will find themselves being in this stage. This is the highest level of Enterprise Architecture maturity, typical for this stage is having standard interfaces and business componentization. Enterprise Architecture is really a strategic capability in this case and there is a lot of agility through customized or reusable modules which are built on top of the optimized core.

Figure 2.20 Effect of Enterprise Architecture Maturity on flexibility below shows the effect of Enterprise Architecture Maturity on global and local flexibility:



Figure 2.20: Effect of Enterprise Architecture Maturity on flexibility

When Enterprise Architecture becomes more mature within the organization, the global flexibility increases and the local flexibility declines because more processes and technology will be standardized on an enterprise-wide level, which leads to less room for local solutions. The local flexibility increases again when the organization has reached the highest level of maturity. In that case, an organization usually has embraced a service-oriented architecture (SOA), which leads to more flexibility. However, as can be seen at the bottom of the figure, this only applies to 6% of the organizations [50].

2.2 Mergers & Acquisitions

2.2.1 Definition

The term "merger" refers to the merging of two organizations where one new organization will continue to exist and the term "acquisition" refers to the acquisition of assets by one organization from another organization [20]. As an ongoing trend, enterprises increasingly establish M&A as a strategic management instrument [25]. For many enterprises M&As are not considered as individual events, but rather represent common instruments of modern business strategies [22]. In general, M&As can be broadly divided into two categories [52]:

- 1. Financial M&As These M&A deals are focused on exploiting the financial value or earnings of a target organization.
- 2. Strategic M&As These M&A deals are focused on accelerating revenue growth, profitability or market penetration of the acquirer by leveraging the target organization's assets or capabilities.

Over the past century, the appearance of M&As remained remarkably high [25]. In 2020, the number of M&As in The Netherlands grew for the 6th year in a row, as is shown in Figure 2.21 Number of M&A deals in the Netherlands [13]:



Figure 2.21: Number of M&A deals in the Netherlands

2.2.2 The M&A Process

There are several stages or phases that every M&A deal usually goes through. Multiple organizations, institutions and researchers have tried to define the typical M&A process, but there is just not one widely accepted standard. In this subsection, three M&A process will be described. It is important to note that not all M&A deals comprise all phases. Sometimes, phases are not distinct, may overlap or contain additional sub-phases [52].
2.2.2.1 Freitag and Schulz

Figure 2.22 M&A process by Freitag and Schulz (2012) depicts the typical M&A process according to Freitag and Schulz (2012) [22]:



Figure 2.22: M&A process by Freitag and Schulz (2012)

The Merger Planning phase typically includes strategic planning of M&A activities, analysis of the environment, identification of candidates, and a high-level valuation of possible target scenarios. The Transaction phase starts with the initial contact and negotiations with a target organization. This phase includes financial planning, due diligence, pre-closing integration planning, and corporate valuation. It ends with the official announcement of the merger, contract signing, antitrust clearance and is completed with the final closing that includes the payment. At this time the formerly independent enterprises close their deal and legally become one single organization. During the Post-Merger Integration phase, a post-closing integration plan is worked out allowing to implement the integration of strategy, organization, business processes, systems, administration, operations, culture, and external relationships of the enterprise [22].

2.2.2.2 Gartner

According to Gartner, the following five phases are part of the typical M&A process [19]:



Merger and Acquisition Phases

Figure 2.23: The five phases of the M&A process by Gartner

The first two phases, Discovery and Screening, are similar to the Merger Planning phase of Freitag and Schulz (2012). It involves the strategic planning of M&A activities, analysis of the environment, identification of candidates, and a high-level valuation of possible target scenarios. The third phase of the Gartner model is the due diligence phase. According to Downes (2008), a due diligence is a process that allows organizations to identify and thoroughly assess the business reasons for proposed M&A transactions. Organizations need to be able to gather, analyze, and report on information that may be coming from a variety of disparate and complex systems [17]. According to the Corporate Finance Institution (2020), the due diligence process aims to confirm or correct the acquirer's assessment of the value of the target organization by conducting a detailed examination and analysis of every aspect of the target organization's operations [14]. The final steps: Integration and Realization phases are similar to the Transaction and Post-Merger Integration phase of the Freitag and Schulz (2012) process and it allows the implementation of the integration of strategy, organization, business processes, systems, administration, operations, culture, and external relationships of the enterprise [22].

From an IT perspective, Gartner considers the following six steps to form the M&A process [2]:

- 1. Screening In this stage the enterprise is considering acquisition candidates [37].
- 2. Initial candidate evaluation At this point, a specific candidate has emerged and the bidding process begins. Typically, there is little in-depth IT information available [37].
- 3. Detailed candidate evaluation (due diligence) In this step the initial opportunity is provided to obtain factual information to estimate the IT-related costs and risks of the transformation [37].
- 4. Closing the deal The parties agree to the final contract terms and conditions in order to finalize the deal [2].
- 5. Executing the merger or acquisition In this step the "M&A transformation" begins, that means: tackling the operational business transformation processes and preparing employees for the new operational environment [37].
- 6. **Operational review** In the final stage, after the M&A has been completed, a post-transformation review helps organizations determine what went well and what did not [37].

2.2.2.3 Corporate Finance Institute

The Corporate Finance Institute defined a typical M&A deal to include the following ten stages [14]:



Figure 2.24: M&A process by the Corporate Finance Institute

All stages in Corporate Finance Institute's M&A process are straightforward and self-explanatory. It also roughly matches the stages in previous M&A processes that have been discussed in this section. It all starts with some sort of planning/screening phase (the first five stages), then some sort of due diligence follows and finally it all ends with some sort of an integration/implementation stage.

2.2.2.4 Literature Research

Calipha et al. (2010) conducted research into the general phases (or stages) of the M&A process based on the available literature and academic research. They researched all publications around this, that were available at the time, ranging from 1969 until 2007. In their research they mentioned the M&A process according to 14 different researchers. The stages of these M&A processes are given in Table 2.2 M&A process phases according to different researchers [9]:

Developed by:	Phases of the M&A process:
Vance (1969)	(1) The courtship phase, (2) the mar- riage ceremony, (3) the honeymoon, and (4) after the honeymoon
Boland (1970)	(1) the Pre-merger and (2) Post- merger

Developed by:	Phases of the M&A process:
Farley and Schwallie (1982)	 (1) Integration with the strategic plan, (2) intelligent screening, (3) evaluation of targets through creativity and analysis, (4) understanding value and price, (5) anticipating the post-acquisition phase, and (6) efficient implementation
Schweiger and Weber (1989)	(1) Pre-merger and (2) Implementa- tion
Salus (1989)	(1) Pre-merger, (2) Merger and (3) Post-merger
Kazemek and Grauman (1989)	 (1) Assessment, (2) joint planning, (3) issue analysis, (4) structure selection, (5) securing approvals, (6) final planning, and (7) implantation
Appelbaum (2000)	(1) Pre-merger, (2) during and (3) Post-merger
Parenteau and Weston (2003)	(1) Strategy planning, (2) candidate screening, (3) due diligence and deal execution, and (4) the ultimate inte- gration phase
Carpenter and Sanders (2007)	(1) Idea, (2) justification (including due diligence and negotiation), (3) acquisition integration, and (4) re- sults

Table 2.2: M&A process phases according to different researchers

2.2.2.5 Conclusion

To conclude, there is not just one clear standard available of what the M&A process consists of, and on top of that, as stated earlier, it is important to note that not all M&A deals comprise all phases. Sometimes, phases are not distinct, may overlap or contain additional sub-phases [52]. However, a lot of the same stages/phases occur in the described processes. So does, for instance, every M&A start with some sort of screening phase to look for potential targets, this is usually followed by the planning phase which involves the execution of a due diligence. Then, after the deal is being concluded, the integration follows and the M&A process ends with some sort of a post-merger phase in which, amongst other things, is being reflected on the entire process. The six steps of the Gartner M&A process from an IT Perspective, as given in subsubsection 2.2.2.2 Gartner, is arguably the best model that is currently available as it comprises most of the phases that are given in the different types of M&A processes.

2.2.3 Types of M&As

It is important to note that different types of M&As can be distinguished. Later in this research, there will be a focus on several cases based on different types of M&As. In subsection 2.2.1 Definition, two categories of M&As were already distinguished: Financial and Strategic M&As. However, this is more a categorization that has to do with the incentive for engaging in a merger or acquisition. Next to these two categories, M&As can also be divided into three types [54] [15]:

- 1. Horizontal Merger or Acquisition Horizontal M&As typically occur between two organizations in similar business sectors. An example of a horizontal merger would be an automobile organization buying a competing automobile organization [54]. A horizontal merger is when a organization merges with industry competitors in order to gain the competitive advantages that come with a larger scale and scope [27].
- 2. Vertical Merger or Acquisition Vertical M&A means that a organization is expanding its operations either backward into an industry that produces inputs for the organization's products or forward into an industry that uses or distributes the organization's products. Vertical integration is usually driven by a desire to strengthen the competitive position or cost of a organization's original business [27].
- 3. Conglomerate Merger or Acquisition The third type, conglomerate M&As, involves two extraneous organizations. A conglomerate M&A involves two organizations which are operating in unrelated industries [15]. An example of a conglomerate M&A would be if an automobile organization bought a hotel chain [54]. The most important purpose of a conglomerate merger is typically the diversification of capital investment [36].

2.2.4 Approaches to M&As

Next to these three types of M&As, there are also different types of approaches to M&As. Gartner has distinguished the following three approaches to M&As [37]:

- 1. **Absorption** The organization that will be acquired (the target) is completely absorbed by the acquirer. The business processes of the acquirer dominate, and the acquired organization must adopt these.
- 2. **Stand-alone** The acquired organization remains independent from its acquirer. The acquired organization remains a separate, stand-alone organization with only some integration of support services (phones, laptops, networks, data centers etc.) to achieve for instance economies of scale.
- 3. Merger of equals In this approach a so-called "best-of-breed organization" is developed from both parties. In this approach, the strongest

components of each organization are used to build a new business model [37]. A merger of equals occurs when two organizations, which are often of similar size, agree to operate as a single business in a new legal entity [53].

The Corporate Finance Institute also described the exact same three approaches or forms of integration during M&As. However, they have named the approaches slightly different in comparison to Gartner: Statutory (Absorption), Subsidiary (Stand-Alone) and Consolidation (Merger of Equals) [15]. In Figure 2.25 Gartner's MAD Integration Models the different types of M&A approaches are visualised:



Figure 2.25: Gartner's MAD Integration Models

This figure shows the implementation of the approaches that were discussed earlier. In the model, it places the three approaches between a target and an acquirer. The goal is to visualize the possibilities of M&A integration between these two. For instance, when an acquirer (you) targets an enterprise with the absorption approach, the entire enterprise will be integrated. As equals, there is not really an integration because a new best-of-breed organization will be developed. In case of a Stand-Alone approach, an integration type could be just focused on a certain business unit of the target (for instance for the integration of support services) or either no integration at all.

2.2.5 Drivers of M&As

M&As are an important strategic lever for the growth of an enterprise [52]. There are several reasons why organizations decide to engage in M&As. The most common reason is growth. This is attributed to the higher chances for growth through merging and acquiring than through internal growth, which usually tends to be slow and ineffective [20]. Nowadays, acquiring other businesses is also a major component of many organizations' corporate strategies [22]. Freitag and Schulz (2012) are stating that growth through acquisitions enables business benefits of scale and scope, it gives access to unique resources and it supports strategic renewal. However, integrating acquired businesses is challenging and complex, which means that acquisitions frequently do not create financial value for the acquirer [26]. According to Gartner (2014) there are three goals that usually drive a Merger or Acquisition [5]:

- 1. Reduce costs with economies of scale and/or economies of scope.
- 2. Acquire brand assets and capabilities rather than develop them in-house.
- 3. Grow volume or expand the mission through increased market share (or market reach).

In addition, according to Evans (2000), organizations involved in M&A activity may experience synergy, which represents the additional value created as a result of the joining or merging of two organizations. Synergy value can be realized through increased revenues, lowered operating expenses, or lowered overall cost of capital. Other common reasons given for M&A activities are cross-selling opportunities, bundling, increased market share (i.e. pricing power), geographical expansion, control of supply chain through vertical integration, and diversification [20]. In 2018, Cherowbrier conducted research into the drivers behind M&As. He found out that there were five main drivers behind a Merger or Acquisition. The top 5 main drivers are [10]:

- 1. Expand customer base in existing geographic markets
- 2. Expand/diversify products or services
- 3. Acquire Technology
- 4. Digital Strategy
- 5. Talent Acquisition

2.2.6 Risks of M&As

It is estimated, based on statistical evidence, that 70 to 90% of the M&A transaction will turn out to be a failure as it does not reap the envisaged benefits [23]. In an M&A transaction, several risks can occur that can make the transaction a failure. Evans (2000) highlighted four common factors that are causing M&A transactions to fail [20]:

- 1. **Poor Strategic Fit** The two organizations have strategies and objectives that are too different and they conflict with one another.
- 2. Incomplete and Inadequate Due Diligence The due diligence process aims to confirm or correct the acquirer's assessment of the value of the target organization by conducting a detailed examination and analysis of every aspect of the target organization's operations [14]. A lack of adequate due diligence may fail to identify current and potential risks which may severely impede the success of the transaction.
- 3. **Poorly Managed Integration** The integration of two organizations requires a very high level of quality management. Integration is often poorly managed with little planning and design, which may result in a failed transaction.
- 4. Exaggerated Optimism and Overstated Synergies Poor decision making may arise if the acquiring organization is too optimistic in its projections about the potential synergies gained from the transaction.

In addition to these factors, the Connell Curtis Group (2012) states that the following four risks usually occur in M&As [12]:

- 1. Buying an overvalued organization
- 2. Clash of corporate cultures
- 3. Loss of talent
- 4. Failure of the acquirer to understand the business (or market) they are buying

These risks have a massive impact on the fact whether an M&A transaction will succeed or not. An additional risk (or conflict) that typically occurs during M&As, is that each side considers its systems and processes to be superior [48]. In order to mitigate these risks and to ensure a potential success of M&A transactions, organizations must ensure that:

- 1. Due diligence is conducted on financial and operational data to mitigate potential threats to the new entity [20]. According to Gartner, incomplete due diligence is a major pitfall for organizations during M&As. Often business processes and IT platforms at target organizations are partially documented and this gets overlooked [53].
- 2. Adequate post-merger procedures are defined in order to cope with the sudden increase in data and information, and heterogeneity of information systems [20].

2.3 M&As from an Enterprise Architecture perspective

2.3.1 Value of Enterprise Architecture in M&As

Enterprise Architecture is vital for the success of an M&A [39]. In short, Enterprise Architecture is used to analyze and document the current and future state of the business, information systems and technology perspective of an enterprise [7]. Therefore, according to Reinicke (2016), Enterprise Architecture is ideally placed to lead M&As to be a success [48].

2.3.1.1 The Urgency of Enterprise Architecture

Acquiring (or merging with) other organizations is a common and challenging component of many corporate growth strategies [22]. Umar (2010) states that modern enterprises need to have a flexible Enterprise Architecture in order to quickly integrate and deliver needed services. This is especially true in case of M&As, because the acquired and the existing systems need to work smoothly with each other [68]. Toppenberg et al. (2015) noted that the value created from acquisitions (and mergers) can be improved by drawing on an advanced Enterprise Architecture capability in the acquisition process [67]. The overestimation of the value of an M&A deal and the realization of synergies between the organizations are both one of the key errors made during M&As. These errors can be resolved by the Enterprise Architecture team through the application of their trend analysis and future-state planning skills and knowledge [2]. In addition, the underestimation of the integration costs is a reason why M&As do not reap the benefits that were originally defined, this is also an error that Enterprise Architects can help out with [2]. West and Sarrazin (2011) are stating that it is proven that organizations involved in M&A transactions, tend to be far more successful in integration when there Enterprise Architecture is in the best possible shape. They argue that without some sort central repository, like an Enterprise Architecture, information remains siloed and this not a great starting point in order for an M&A transaction to be a success [70].

2.3.1.2 Deployment of Enterprise Architecture

Enterprise Architecture can be defined as both a management program and documentation method which combines strategic, business and technology planning to facilitate and support better decision-making within an enterprise [6]. As a management program, Enterprise Architecture functions as an integrated approach to resource planning, policy and decision making. As a documentation method, Enterprise Architecture provides a framework for the documentation of current and future configurations of the enterprise [17]. According to Burgelman and McKinney (2006) there are three tasks corporate executives must execute during M&As [8]:

- 1. Define short and long-term goals which maximizes the synergies gained in an M&A transaction.
- 2. Document and analyze the assets of both the target and your own (the acquiring) organization.
- 3. Execute a strategic integration plan which has an acceptable time frame and budget.

These three tasks, of corporate executives during M&As, can be met by the two facets of Enterprise Architecture:

- 1. As a documentation method, an Enterprise Architecture framework documents the as-is and to-be configurations of the enterprise based on strategic planning of current and future resources. These views provide management with [6]:
 - (a) A representation of the current resources and alignment of the acquiring and the target organizations' strategies; and
 - (b) A proposed view of the fully integrated organization minus existing misalignments and performance gaps.
- 2. As a management program, executives can [6]:
 - (a) Define short and long-term strategic goals based on the current inventory of resources and capabilities; and
 - (b) Create a strategic integration plan to transition the target and acquirer to a future state based on the future view of the consolidated firm defined in the Enterprise Architecture.

2.3.1.3 Role of Enterprise Architects

Buckl (2011) states that Enterprise Architecture Management is an approach for analyzing, planning, and controlling as-is and to-be states of the enterprise in terms of business, information systems, and technology architecture, based on an overarching Enterprise Architecture model. The main benefits Enterprise Architecture Management offers, are [7]:

- 1. Creation of a holistic perspective on the enterprise, comprising business and IT elements.
- 2. Define a common language for multidisciplinary stakeholders in order to foster communication.
- 3. Gathering information from differing sources and provisioning of consistent decision base.

These three benefits of Enterprise Architecture Management are also considered to be challenges when enterprises have to deal with M&As [22]. Enterprise Architects are responsible for the management of an Enterprise Architecture. In 2012, Freitag and Schulz did research into what tasks were assigned to Enterprise Architects in case of an M&A. The most tasks are mainly part of the Post-Merger Integration phase or general Enterprise Architecture management tasks. Regarding the Post-Merger Integration phase, subsequent tasks were mentioned: integration planning, consolidation or respectively integration of IT and processes, business and IT integration, migration of applications and data, and software selection. General Enterprise Architecture Management tasks included scoping, providing transparency, IT master planning, target architecture design, governance, and project management [22]. Additionally, various literature considers the following tasks also to be a responsibility of Enterprise Architects in case of M&As [22]:

- Consolidation of organization and business process, applications, and infrastructure.
- Dependency and redundancy analysis.
- Identification of focus areas (scoping) and measures required.
- As-is and to-be architecture planning tasks which should be performed in the course of the Post-Merger Integration phase.

Next to referring to the available literature, Freitag and Schulz (2012) did research themselves into how Enterprise Architects could support in case of M&As. Table 2.3 Responsibilities of Enterprise Architects during M&As shows the most named tasks that should (or could) be a responsibility of Enterprise Architects during M&As [22]:

Responsibilities of Enterprise Architects during M&As			
Performing due diligence	Target architecture design		
Consolidation of IT and processes	Providing transparency		
Dependency analysis	Development of integration scenarios		
Support of C-level management	Providing a consolidated information		
(CIO, CTO) in decision making (e.g.	base and mapping of business and IT		
by pointing out costs of integration)	capabilities.		
which are part of the merger plan-			
ning phase.			
Preparation of a business capability	Review of the target enterprise's as-is		
roadmap	architecture		

Table 2.3: Responsibilities of Enterprise Architects during M&As

The tasks mentioned in Table 2.3 Responsibilities of Enterprise Architects during M&As, have also been stated as tasks that are already performed today by Enterprise Architects during M&As [22].

2.3.2 Usage of Enterprise Architecture in M&As

In this subsection, the usage of Enterprise Architecture during M&As will be discussed.

2.3.2.1 Considerations

When an organization is subject to a merger or acquisition, it should consider the following points from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, according to the IMAA Institute [29]:

- **IT involvement** IT should be involved up front, not as an afterthought during an M&A.
- Early planning This is tied to the previous point and the goal is to force the involved organizations to understand the flow of information and business processes, which will need to be linked as well as confront integration issues up front.
- **Software Integration** It must be investigated whether current software needs to be integrated or that it is better to wait for the next generation for instance.
- Short-term vs. Long-term integration The approach to the integration must be investigated: a short-term tactical integration approach or a long-term strategic one. The impact of other planned M&As play a role in this as well.
- **Resources** Resources should be dedicated to the M&A integration. an M&A must not be underestimated and staffed with just 'spare-time job' resources. Dedicated teams should be working on the M&A.
- Minimize disruption The disruption period of the business, caused by the M&A, should be kept to a minimum.

2.3.2.2 The Use of Reference Models

During M&A transactions, according to Reinicke (2016), it is crucial for organizations to use Enterprise Architecture roadmaps in order guide processes and in order to quickly assess landscapes and accelerate integration. Next to that, the business capabilities of both the acquirer and the target must be assessed in order to detect differentiation, criticality and complexity of change [48]. With the use of architecture reference models, according to Swindell (2015), the target organization in an M&A can be represented and based on that further decisions can be made. This is especially relevant in the pre-merger phase of an M&A transaction. Examples of Enterprise Architecture reference models that could be useful during M&As are [58]:

- Business Capability Model Create subjective assessments of the business capabilities of your organization and the target. According to Strah and Taware (2017), business capability models are critical in identifying future state roadmaps as well as identifying current state gaps that may not be apparent to transformation teams during M&As [56].
- Business Technology Organization Model Identify the organizational structures, people (FTE's), services, costs and integration risks of the target organization.
- Applications Reference Model Identify the state of the application portfolio of your organization and the target. This can be done on the technical side but also on the management side, like Enterprise License Agreements (ELA's) or contracts etc.
- Enterprise Data Model Data integration (or migration) will almost always exceed the estimated costs of the integration. This reference model allows to identify the structure of logical and physical data assets and data management resources within the enterprise. Strah and Taware are stating that: "effective data governance can significantly reduce the efforts for data integrations and provide key foundations for cloud and infrastructure consolidation and transformation efforts that may result" [56].
- Infrastructure Reference Model Identify and assess gaps and overlaps between your current and target IT infrastructure and that of the target.

The use of these models allows the acquirer to have a better insight into the target organization, and therefore the acquirer will be able to make better decisions and it will improve communications. According to Swindell (2015), Enterprise Architecture success factors for M&As include the following [58]:

- 1. A mature Enterprise Architecture function or framework.
- 2. A clear representation of your own organizational assets.
- 3. Acceptance of the value to be achieved from the Enterprise Architecture tools by the CEO and integration team.

2.3.2.3 Usage of EA in Gartner's M&A process

Earlier, in subsubsection 2.2.2.2 Gartner, the six stages of the M&A process from an IT perspective according to Gartner were discussed. This sub-section goes deeper into these six stages and it will be discussed how Enterprise Architecture can provide support (and value) for these stages of Gartner's M&A process:

• 1. Screening - Enterprise Architecture can support the screening stage of an M&A by the improvement of the environmental trend analysis step which is a key element of the business context [2]. Traditionally, Enterprise Architects would act as a "technology watch function" to track products and technologies that could have an effect on the strategy of the organization. Now, Enterprise Architects need to determine on future trends and implications of emerging technologies to the the organization. According to Gartner, Enterprise Architects must do the following in this stage: (1) Identifying and prioritizing potential markets or business areas of interest, (2) Researching the market and financial positions of organizations in these markets, (3) Defining synergies with and yields of potential target organizations and (4) Selecting and prioritizing possible acquisition candidates [2].

- 2. Initial candidate evaluation & 3. Detailed candidate evaluation (due diligence) - The due diligence stage is arguably the most important stage of an M&A from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, because in this stage it can be seen how the target organization operates its business. Furthermore, Enterprise Architecture can have a valuable impact on this stage by using a conceptually view of the Enterprise Architecture process to estimate the extent of change required to merge organizations. This can be done by looking at the current (as-is) state and the future (to-be) state and to estimate the significance of closing the gap between these two states. In many cases this will cost either a lot of money or time. Therefore Gartner advises that the Enterprise Architecture should be broken up into the following key areas (keeping in mind that this covers the current- and future state and the gap analysis) [2]:
 - 1. Candidate's product and service portfolio
 - 2. Candidate's geographies and organizational issues
 - 3. Candidate's information technology
 - 4. Candidate's market strength and position
- 4. Closing the deal In this stage, from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, Enterprise Architects should continue with the gap analysis, that was discussed in the previous stage, and extend it in order to develop more-detailed transition plans. Transition planning develops the program of work and generally a road map based on the expansion of the conceptual-level architectural analysis that was performed during candidate evaluation. The transition planning should be facilitated by the Enterprise Architecture team [2].
- 5. Executing the M&A This stage will require a significant commitment by the Enterprise Architecture team to effectively manage the future-state plans into action. The intensity of activity at this stage will depend on the model used for the integration. Figure 2.25 Gartner's MAD Integration Models shows the multiple approaches that can be applied. Enterprise Architecture teams must be prepared to support any of the integration options defined in this figure, including adjusting team size and structure to incorporate more architects [2].

• 6. Operational review - In the final stage it is important to (critically) examine what has been accomplished. From an Enterprise Architecture perspective, its effectiveness must be assessed. Additionally, it must be assessed what efficiencies (in cost savings, in time saved etc.) Enterprise Architecture was able to contribute to during the M&A process [2].

2.3.2.4 Case Study: Cisco Systems

The case of Cisco Systems shows that an advanced Enterprise Architecture capability (= the capability to integrate the necessary resources to create a complete Enterprise Architecture view of an enterprise) can contribute to the typical stages of the M&A process [67]. Enterprise Architects of Cisco used the systems and technology views of Cisco's Enterprise Reference Model in the pre-integration phase during acquisitions. This analysis was used to determine which components were critical to the integration planning and execution targets. The reference model helped prioritize the components that were most critical to the future state of the integrated business [67]. The reference model of Cisco Systems was based on the BOST Framework, an Enterprise Architecture framework which has been discussed in subsubsection 2.1.4.3 BOST Framework. The Enterprise Reference model was the key Enterprise Architecture Artifact used by Cisco in the Acquisition/Merger planning phase. It ensured the integrity of the architecture and captured the evolving as-is state. The reference model also captured the current state of how Cisco did business and showed how the components in the business, operations, systems and technology views worked together to enable Cisco to do business [67]. Figure 2.26 The Enterprise Reference Model of Cisco shows the Enterprise Reference Model of Cisco Systems:



Figure 2.26: The Enterprise Reference Model of Cisco

From the case study performed by Toppenberg et al. (2015) at Cisco Systems, there are five main lessons to be learned for effectively using Enterprise Architecture during M&As [67]:

- 1. Enterprise Architecture is a Dynamic Process The enterprise reference model is always an incomplete representation of the organization's capabilities. For M&As, it is the critical task to ensure that the Enterprise Architecture of the organization at any time is fit for purpose in the critical areas and is available as required. When time is essential, a merger or acquisition does not require an Enterprise Architecture to be developed for the target organization. Instead, an understanding of the target organization's Enterprise Architecture is built progressively over time. Cisco did this by letting the Enterprise Architecture team initially focus on areas where deviations from the expected would matter, enabling it to drill down to assess where technology integration would present obstacles. After the transaction was completed, the discovery process would continue which resulted in revealing more details about the architecture of the newly acquired organization [67].
- 2. Reduce the Number of the Integration Problems To reduce the number of integration problems, rather than becoming better at resolving them during the merger or acquisition process, the acquirer should identify those elements that could contribute to a difficult integration project and use its Enterprise Architecture capability to manage them. At Cisco, after a stream of 32 acquisitions and mergers, the organization was providing 32 different software consumption models. By standardizing on and documenting scalable business, operations, systems and technology capabilities for software purchases, Cisco reduced the number of software consumption models to four. Thus, when Cisco was acquiring a new organization, the acquisition team could analyze the organization's practices and subsequently integrate them within the four well-defined and scalable consumption models which Cisco already operated [67].
- 3. Use Pairs of Business and Enterprise Architects Cisco Systems discovered that combining business and Enterprise Architects into pairs with ongoing responsibility for specific capability areas forms a crucial bridge between the business and technology domains during M&As [67].
- 4. Make Acquisition integration part of the ongoing business transformation - In many large organizations a continuous transformation is ongoing which involves a variety of challenges and opportunities. Different strategic initiatives (joint ventures, restructurings, market re-orientations etc.) are affecting the same operations, systems and technology capabilities and they also use the same organizational resources to implement changes. Organizations that use their Enterprise Architecture capabilities to orchestrate ongoing transformations, can use those capabilities in the integration phase of an M&A to ensure the integration is synchronized with other transformation initiatives [67].
- 5. Digital Traces Point the Way Ahead The outcomes of an M&A project must be measured to prevent the project from drifting from the

desirable business state. At Cisco, the acquisition team used documentation provided by the Enterprise Architecture team to evaluate the performance of the acquisition. The evaluation contrasted forecast and actual integration outcomes as part of an ongoing learning process of what needed attention in the due diligence of future acquisitions [67].

2.3.3 Integrating Enterprise Architectures during M&As

In a Merger or Acquisition, two separate organizations, both with their own Enterprise Architecture, can be distinguished: the acquirer (or parent organization) and the acquired entity (or child organization). From an Enterprise Architecture perspective, the following situation occurs during an M&A [11]:



Figure 2.27: The LoS between two Enterprise Architectures during M&As

Figure 2.27 The LoS between two Enterprise Architectures during M&As illustrates that two separate organizations, presented as Enterprise Architectures, are coming together during an M&A. Both of these organizations will have their own goals, services, processes, data, systems and IT infrastructures. In case of an M&A, something needs to happen with these two separate Enterprise Architectures and eventually it will be formed into one Enterprise Architecture. In this process, the two organizations will have a shared burden in defining the new or adjusted business model and changes in the go-to-market strategy or customer journey [11]. Not only must the (IT) infrastructure of different units become harmonized, but informed calculations have to be made to alter applications, products, and business processes [39].

According to Umar (2010), enterprise integration means: "making independently designed enterprise systems work together [68]." The domains/layers of Enterprise Architecture have been described in subsection 2.1.3 Architecture Domains. These domains are: Business Architecture, Information Systems Architecture (Application + Data) and Technology Architecture. From an Enterprise Architecture perspective, two types of integration can occur between these Enterprise Architecture domains [68]:

- Vertical integrations A business architecture that is integrated with the technology architecture. The components of business, applications and IT infrastructure will be combined into one.
- Horizontal integrations Processes and technologies at the same domain are integrated. For instance, the integration of business processes in sales with business processes in supply chain.

In Figure 2.28 Building Blocks of Enterprise Architecture and Integration, these types of integration are depicted:



Figure 2.28: Building Blocks of Enterprise Architecture and Integration

Any given enterprise is comprised of vertical and horizontal integrations. However, when an organization is subject to an M&A, the situation as shown in figure Figure 2.27 The LoS between two Enterprise Architectures during M&As will occur. In this case, Enterprise Architectures, which are always integrated vertically and horizontally in both organizations, need to be integrated into one new Enterprise Architecture. Umar (2010) states that this situation is 'a real headache' for enterprises and that this situation is typically referred to as the 'information silo' problem: M&As introduce multiple silos of information that are introducing more complexity and duplication to an enterprise [68].

Chapter 3

Research Methodology

In this chapter, the methodology and approach of this research will be described and substantiated. This research started with a literature review in chapter 2 Literature Review. This literature review lay the foundation for the approach that will be described in this chapter.

3.1 Literature Review

This research started with a literature review. There were two main reasons why this literature review was performed. First of all, the literature review was performed in order to get foundational knowledge about the topic of this thesis. Second, the knowledge gained from the literature review helped answering the remaining research questions, because it contributed to the design of this research. Thus in the end, a literature review was performed in order to gain knowledge about the topic and for setting a theoretical framework for the part of the research where data will be gathered and analyzed. The first two research questions were answered with this literature review:

- 1. What is Enterprise Architecture?
- 2. What are Mergers & Acquisitions?

The literature review had a focus on Enterprise Architecture in general, M&As in general and a combination of these two topics. The literature review has been conducted with a systematic approach and the literature was gathered from the following sources: Google Scholar, Gartner and the catalogue of Leiden University which contains 752 online databases among which the IEEE Computer Society Digital Library, CiteSeerX and more relevant Information Technology related sources. Different search terms were used while using these sources. The used search terms are shown in Table 3.1 Search Terms that were used during the Literature Review. The search terms in this table are essentially the search terms that were used, in practice there was being searched on even more variants for specific terms. For instance, for the term "Mergers & Acquisitions", "acquisitions" and "M&A". This has been done for all separate search terms that involved the term "Mergers & Acquisitions". See Table 3.1 Search Terms that were used during the Literature Review for all used search terms:

Search Terms used during Literature Review			
Enterprise Architecture	Enterprise Architecture ArchiMate		
Enterprise Architecture Definition	Enterprise Architecture Views		
Enterprise Architecture Benefits	Enterprise Architecture Viewpoints		
Enterprise Architecture Frameworks	Mergers & Acquisitions		
The Open Group Architecture	Mergers & Acquisitions motives		
Framework			
Zachman Architecture Framework	Mergers & Acquisitions phases		
BOST Framework	Mergers & Acquisitions strategies		
Enterprise Architecture Modeling	Mergers & Acquisitions stages		
ArchiMate	Mergers & Acquisitions process		
Mergers & Acquisitions AND "Enter-	Mergers & Acquisitions Types		
prise Architecture"			

Table 3.1: Search Terms that were used during the Literature Review

3.2 Category Selection

The aim of this research was to find strategies and to describe common challenges, pitfalls and best practices for how organizations can cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures in case of M&As. The literature review showed that there is not just one type of M&A. Therefore, there was a focus on multiple categories of M&As, because as the literature and academic research showed: not every M&A is the same. In this section, the categories subject to this research will be selected and described.

3.2.1 Category Dimensions

The categories for this research will be based on two dimensions. These dimensions are based on the available literature and academic research around this topic. In the next two subsections, these dimensions will be discussed.

3.2.1.1 Types of M&As

In subsection 2.2.3 Types of M&As multiple types of M&As were discussed. The following three types were discussed there [54]:

- 1. Horizontal M&A Horizontal M&As typically occur between two organizations in similar business sectors. An example of a horizontal merger would be an automobile organization buying a competing automobile organization [54].
- 2. Vertical M&A Vertical M&A means that a organization is expanding its operations either backward into an industry that produces inputs

for the organization's products or forward into an industry that uses or distributes the organization's products [27].

3. Conglomerate M&A - Conglomerate M&As involve two organizations which are operating in unrelated industries [15]. An example of a conglomerate M&A would be if an automobile organization bought a hotel chain [54].

Thus, the type of M&A is one of the two dimensions for the selection of categories. Based on these three different types of M&As, M&As can be broken down into a single dimension:

- 1. The target organization, which is subject to an M&A, is performing similar business activities and it has similar business capabilities as its acquirer (Horizontal M&A).
- 2. The target organization, which is subject to an M&A, is performing different types of business activities and it has different business capabilities in comparison to its acquirer (Vertical & Conglomerate M&A). According to Strah and Taware (2017), organizations are essentially mixing apples and oranges across industry verticals in these types of M&As [56].

For the first dimension, the focus was on two types of M&As: Horizontal M&A (= performing same business activities / having similar business capabilities) and Vertical M&A (= performing different business activities / having different business capabilities). For the purpose of this research, the third type, Conglomerate M&A, falls under a Vertical M&A because both involves the M&A of an organization performing different business activities and having different business capabilities than its acquirer.

3.2.1.2 M&A Approaches

Next to the types of M&As, there are certain approaches to M&As. In subsection 2.2.4 Approaches to M&As, the following approaches were described:

- 1. Absorption (Statutory) The acquired target organization is completely absorbed by the acquirer. The business processes of the acquirer dominate, and the acquired organization must adopt these.
- 2. Stand-Alone (Subsidiary) The acquired organization remains independent from its acquirer. The acquired organization remains a separate, stand-alone organization with no integration at all or either only some integration of support services (phones, laptops, networks, data centers etc.) to achieve economies of scale for instance.
- 3. Merger of Equals (Consolidation) In this approach a so-called "best-of-breed organization" is developed from both parties: the strongest components of each organization are used to build a new business model [37]. A Merger of equals occurs when two organizations which are often of similar size, agree to operate as a single business in a new legal entity [53].

In this research there was a focus on two of these approaches: Absorption and Stand-Alone. There was not a focus on the Merger of Equals approach, because this falls out of the scope of this research for several reasons. In a "Merger of Equals" approach, the strongest components of each organization are used to build a new business model [37]. However, a lot of researchers are doubting the existence of this approach to M&As. Between 1985 and 2001, according to Zaheer et al., only 45 of the total 90,480 M&As in Europe, could be classified as being a true "Merger of Equals". That is just around 0.05% (!) of all concluded M&A deals [71]. Furthermore, Alluru and Thomas (2016), state that there is very little evidence of the existence of true Mergers of Equals [3]. On top of that, there are many more authors that state that there have been very few 'real' mergers of equals and that one side is always a 'bit more equal' than the other [55] [33]. According to Alluru and Thomas (2016), there is a reason why the term "Merger of Equals" is often used, even tough it does not really exist: "The label of Merger of Equal is largely used in most of the $M \mathfrak{G} A$ deals as shield to avoid regulatory barriers and to sell the deal to anxious stakeholders, particularly those of the 'weaker' partner [3]." In addition, Zaheer adds that a Merger of Equals can never be truly equal, there will always be a party that is more predominant [71]. That means essentially that a Merger of Equals can also be plotted as being either a Stand-Alone or Absorption M&A. Therefore, the Merger of Equals approach was out of the scope of this research and the focus was on the Absorption and Stand-Alone approach.

3.2.2 Categories

Based on the two dimensions that are described in the previous section, a model for the selection of categories has been created. The model classifies four categories of M&As. A brief description of each category will follow now:

- Category 1: Horizontal M&A with a Stand-Alone approach In the first category, the target organization operates in a similar business sector, meaning that it has similar business capabilities and it performs similar business activities as its acquirer. The target organization will be acquired/merged with a Stand-Alone approach meaning that the target organization remains independent from its acquirer. The acquired organization remains a separate, stand-alone organization.
- Category 2: Horizontal M&A with an Absorption approach In the second category, the target organization operates in a similar business sector, meaning that it has similar business capabilities and it performs similar business activities as its acquirer. The target organization will be acquired/merged with an Absorption approach. This means that the target organization is completely absorbed by the acquirer and ceases to exists as an autonomous organization. The business processes of the acquirer dominate, and the acquired organization must adopt these.
- Category 3: Vertical M&A with a Stand-Alone approach In the

third category, the target organization performs business activities and it has business capabilities that differs from its acquirer. The target organization will be acquired/merged with a Stand-Alone approach meaning that the target organization remains independent from its acquirer. The acquired organization remains a separate, stand-alone organization.

• Category 4: Vertical M&A with an Absorption approach - In the fourth category, the target organization performs business activities and it has business capabilities that differs from its acquirer. The target organization will be acquired/merged with an absorption approach. This means that the target organization is completely absorbed by the acquirer. The business processes of the acquirer dominate, and the acquired organization must adopt these.

In Figure 3.1 The Category Selection Model, it is being illustrated how the two dimensions, that have been discussed in the previous subsection, lay the basis for the selected categories:



Figure 3.1: The Category Selection Model

3.3 Data Gathering

After the literature review was performed, and based on that making a selection of the categories that would be researched, data was gathered. In order to gather data for each category, multiple qualitative research methods were used.

3.3.1 Environment

This study was conducted at an energy company that operates in The Netherlands, Belgium, Germany, and the UK. This organization has a total turnover of more than \notin 4 billion and it employs around 3.000 people. This organization is intertwined in M&As and the knowledge regarding this topic will be widely available within this organization. For each of the four defined categories, multiple cases of M&As were available at the host organization. All these cases are plotted on the category selection model in Figure 3.2 M&A cases at the host organization plotted on the Category Selection Model:



Figure 3.2: M&A cases at the host organization plotted on the Category Selection Model

In total there were 12 suitable cases of M&As that occurred at the host organization. All 12 of these cases were subject to this research. In Table 3.2 Details of the M&A cases within the host organization, details of each case are given:

Category	Case	Size ¹	Year of M&A ²	Document Analysis
1	А	460	2019	Х
	В	100	2015	
	С	89	2014	
2	D	200	2017	
	Ε	200	2018	Х

Category	Case	Size ¹	Year of M&A ²	Document Analysis
	\mathbf{F}	1400	2005	
3	G	60	2011	Х
5	Н	85.000	2020	
	Ι	15	2017	Х
4	J	40	2020	Х
	Κ	120	2020	Х
	\mathbf{L}	15	2018	Х

Table 3.2: Details of the M&A cases within the host organization

¹ Estimated number of employees at the time of the deal announcement.

 2 Year when transaction was announced, this differs from the time the integration really took place, which could take up years.

3.3.2 Document Analysis

First of all, a document analysis was performed into any documentation related to the specific case. This documentation consisted for instance of project plans, designs, road maps, meeting notes, or any other available documentation related to the cases. This has been performed separately for each of the cases that has been selected for this research³. However, it was not possible to perform a document analysis for every case. This was caused by the fact that there was simply no documentation available. In Table 3.2 Details of the M&A cases within the host organization, it is being indicated if a document analysis was possible for the specific case. The document analysis was performed in order to get a better picture of what occurred during each case. Based on this analysis, questions for the interviews were tailored.

3.3.3 Desk Research

Next to gathering primary data, secondary data was collected for this research. A desk research was conducted into lessons learned (common challenges, pitfalls, best practices, and strategies etc.) regarding the integration of Enterprise Architecture in combination with M&As. The focus in this desk research was on similar studies and literature and lessons which can be learned from these studies. As stated earlier in the introduction, there was very limited literature available regarding the topic, so that means that the desk research delivered relatively poor results in terms of quantity. The same goes for quality because, as stated earlier, the literature tends to see M&A always as a Merger of Equals

 $^{^{3}\}mathrm{If}$ applicable, this information was not available for every case.

were the focus is on integration and consolidation. Therefore, the results of the desk research are only included in the lessons learned section for absorption cases (cases where gets integrated) in the results chapter of this thesis.

3.3.4 Interviews

The main method for gathering data in this research was by performing interviews. Qualitative interviews have been performed with the general interview guide approach. This means that the same general areas of information were collected from each interviewee. This provided more focus, but still allowed a degree of freedom and adaptability in getting the information from the interviewee [40]. For these same general areas, interview questions have been developed which were based on the research questions of this research. Next to that, additional tailored questions were asked based on information that had been gathered from the document analysis or based on the outcomes of earlier interviews. The interview protocol has been included in appendix A Interview Protocol of this thesis. The participants of these interviews were Enterprise Architects (or similar closely-related roles like CIOs or other higher management roles with an Enterprise Architecture affinity) within the host organization that were involved in a specific M&A case. In total there were four categories subject to this research. For every category, at least two cases were available within the host organization that matched each specific category, as is shown in Figure 3.2 M&A cases at the host organization plotted on the Category Selection Model. At least one interviewee was selected for each case and also for each case the questions were different and tailored based on previously gathered data in the specific case, either via previous interviews or document analysis. All these interviews have been recorded (with permission) and transcribed. The transcripts of all these interviews, can be found in appendix B Interview Transcripts. This appendix is delivered separately from this thesis due to the large number of pages. Detailed information about the interviews that took place, is being given in Table 3.3 Overview of interviewees:

Category	Case	Role of Interviewee	Date	Duration
1	А	Head of IT SC	26-02-2021	00:49:04
В		Head of Digital	10-03-2021	00:31:44
	С	Enterprise Architect	05-03-2021	00:54:16
2	D	Enterprise Architect	10-03-2021	00:33:01
	D	Head of IT SC	25-03-2021	00:46:00
	Е	Enterprise Architect	05-03-2021	00:54:16
	\mathbf{F}	Enterprise Architect	16-03-2021	00:28:16

Category	Case	Role of Interviewee	Date	Duration
3	G	Enterprise Architect	08-03-2021	00:46:21
Ŭ	Н	Head of IT SC	25-03-2021	00:46:00
	Ι	Enterprise Architect	16-03-2021	00:28:16
4	J	CIO	07-04-2021	00:42:54
	Κ	СТО	11-03-2021	00:48:17
	\mathbf{L}	Enterprise Architect	16-03-2021	00:28:16

Table 3.3: Overview of Interviewees

3.4 Data Analysis

The data that has been gathered in this research, as described in the previous section 3.3 Data Gathering, was primarily textual data. In this research, data was collected on a category basis and this means that the data was also divided and analyzed on a category basis. In addition, a general analysis has been performed on the data of all categories combined.

3.4.1 The Grounded Theory

In order to make sense of this data, principles of the Grounded Theory were used in this research in order to apply systematic and explicit data analysis techniques to this textual information. According to Martin and Turner (1986), the Grounded Theory is: "[A]n inductive, theory discovery methodology that allows the researcher to develop a theoretical account of the general features of a topic while simultaneously grounding the account in empirical observations or data [38]." The process of the Grounded Theory consists of the following 8 steps [38]:

- 1. Identify the substantive area/the area of interest
- 2. Collect data pertaining to the substantive area
- 3. Open code the data as it gets collected
- 4. Write memos throughout the entire process
- 5. Conduct selective coding and theoretical sampling
- 6. Sort the memos and find the theoretical code(s) which best organizes the substantive codes
- 7. Read the literature and integrate with the theory through selective coding.

8. Write up the theory

It is important to mention that this research was not fully based on the Grounded Theory. The Grounded Theory for instance states that the interviewer does not have any prior knowledge when conducting the research. This was not applicable for this research. The Grounded Theory part that was mostly involved in this research, was the systematic processing and analysis of the gathered textual data and the development of theories by using coding techniques and memos. This process will be described more in depth later in this chapter.

3.4.2 Coding

Coding is a key-crucial structure for analyzing and organizing data in qualitative research [42]. Saldana (2009) describes a code as: "a word or short phrase that symbolically assigns a summative, salient, essence-capturing, and/or evocative attribute for a portion of language-based or visual data" [51]. The coding of collected data results in the creation of theory, leading the researcher to construct deeper theoretical meaning [42]. In this research, all interviews were transcribed. After that, all collected textual data was being coded. This has been performed on a category basis, so this process was performed four times; once for each separate category. Thus, every category had there own set of codes and themes. By using coding methods, themes embedded in the data can be revealed and these themes are helpful for constructing meaning from the data [42]. According to Williams and Moser (2019), there are three types of coding that can be applied in qualitative research: Open coding, Axial coding and Selective coding [42]. In Figure 3.3 Types of coding that can be applied in Qualitative research, it is being explained what happens during these three types of coding methods:



Figure 3.3: Types of coding that can be applied in Qualitative research

The coding process starts with open coding when there is many pages of textual data. During open coding, the researcher is identifying distinct concepts and themes for the categorization of the collected data. The first level of data is organized by creating initial broad thematic domains for data assemblage [42].

Eventually, this will lead to many segments of text and 30-40 codes⁴, and this type of coding is called axial coding. Axial coding is the second level of coding. In contrast to open coding, which focuses on identifying emergent themes, axial coding further refines, aligns, and categorizes these themes [42]. Strauss (1998) adds that: "Axial coding identifies relationships between open codes, for the purpose of developing core codes. Major (core) codes emerge as aggregates of the most closely interrelated (or overlapping) open codes for which supporting evidence is strong" [57]. In the end, selective coding will be applied in order to further reduce the amount of codes. Selective coding is the third level of coding. Selective coding enables a researcher to select and integrate categories of organized data from axial coding in cohesive and meaning-filled expressions [42]. Based on these themes, theories can be developed. In Figure 3.4 Example of going from coding to theory development, a simple example is given of how open, axial and selective coding can lead to the development of a theory [42]:



Figure 3.4: Example of going from coding to theory development

According to Williams and Moser (2019) this coding method enables a cyclical and evolving data loop in which the researcher interacts, is constantly comparing data and applying data reduction, and consolidation techniques [42]. They add that as the coding process progresses the dynamic function and nonlinear direction of this approach enables essential themes to be identified, codified, and interpreted in line with the focus of the research [42].

3.4.3 Creation of Results

As described in the previous section, three types of codes have been applied to the data that has been collected for this research. It is important to note that the coding process of open, axial and selective coding, is not a linear process as

⁴This is an indication, it does not mean that is mandatory to have exactly 30-40 codes. All numbers are approximates and it all depends on the type of research.

is shown in Figure 3.5 The coding process in qualitative research:



Figure 3.5: The coding process in qualitative research

In this research, the same process has been followed as described in Figure 3.5 The coding process in qualitative research. The codebook of this research can be found in appendix C Codebook. This appendix is delivered separately from this thesis due to the large number of pages. Based on the codes, which led to themes (selective coding), memos have been developed for each of the 12 cases. In appendix D Themes in the Data, the themes of all categories (1, 2, 3 and 4) are shown including the frequency of the occurrence of a specific theme. These memos, in which theory was developed based on the themes, are the foundation for the creation of the results (constructing meaning) that will be discussed later in this thesis. These memos can be found in appendix E Memos. This appendix is delivered separately from this thesis due to the large number of pages. Based on common concepts and relationships in the memos of each case (A, B, C, D etc.), results have been described on a category basis (1, 2, 3 and 4). For instance, case A and case B are both classified as being a category 1 M&A. The memos of case A and case B have been compared in order to find common concepts and relationships for category 1 M&As. Next to categoryspecific results, general results have been described based on findings that were found to be applicable to all categories. The structure of chapter 4 Results is also based on this grouping of results.

3.5 Validation

All research steps that have thus far been described in this chapter, have lead to results which are based on constructing meaning, theory development and coding. In order to validate these results outside of the environment in which this research has been conducted, interviews have been conducted with two individuals outside of the environment in which this study was conducted. This data triangulation functioned as a cross-examination of the findings of this research. In total two of such interviews have been conducted. The first interview has been conducted with an analyst from a major research and advisory organization. The second interview has been conducted with an Enterprise Architect with over more than 20 years experience in a major IT consulting firm. Both interviewees had experience with M&As from an Enterprise Architecture perspective and the outcomes of this research had been discussed with them. The interview protocol for this validation has been added in appendix F Validation Interview Protocol of this thesis. The questions in this protocol are based on the results in chapter 4 Results and the key findings in section 5.1 Summary of key findings. In section 4.6 Validation, the outcomes of these validation interviews are described.

3.6 Overview

In this chapter, the approach and methodology of this research has been described. In this inductive research, 12 cases of M&As were researched. These 12 cases have been placed in one of the four defined categories. A mix of methods were used in order to gather the data: a literature review, desk research, document analysis and qualitative interviews. The data was analyzed with the use of coding. Based on these codes, which leads to themes, memos were created in which theories have been developed. With these theories, constructive meaning was created. The key findings/results of this thesis have been validated with two individual outside of the organization in which this research has been conducted. In chapter 4 Results of this thesis, these theories and constructive meaning will be presented. To summarize the research methodology, an overview of the steps is given in Figure 3.6 The Research Process:



Figure 3.6: The Research Process

Chapter 4

Results

In this chapter the empirical findings of this research will be presented. The findings are structured based on the four categories and general findings that are applicable to all categories or a subset of two categories (Stand-Alone and Absorptive M&As). It is made clear with headings when a result stems from the desk research or from the primary research. In general, all results in this chapter are coming from the primary research, except for the subsections where the heading explicitly states that it stems from the desk research or when a source has been cited.

4.1 General

First of all, general results will be described which are not specific to one category of M&As.

4.1.1 Integration Consideration

Four categories of M&As have been subject to this research. These categories have been selected based on the type of M&A and the approach to an M&A. The type of M&A (Horizontal or Vertical) is a given, this is something that simply cannot be changed. However, that does not apply to the approach of an M&A (Stand-Alone or Absorption). This is a decision that management must decide on and this is usually the main question asked during M&As from an Enterprise Architecture perspective: do we integrate (Absorption) the acquired organization or do we keep it as a separate organization (Stand-Alone)?

A pitfall during M&As is that the acquirer always thinks that they should integrate the acquired organization and that the acquired organization should use their processes and IT systems, but by definition, this is observed to be not true. The prevailing sentiment is usually that the owner needs to integrate/absorb the acquired organization because that is what an owner is supposed to do, this was observed in all cases. However, the question that should always be asked is whether it is in everyone's interest that an organization gets fully integrated with the parent. For instance, from a Business Architecture perspective, when acquiring a (smaller) organization there is usually a whole different culture. When there is for instance an innovative culture, this is likely to not work out when this gets integrated into a bureaucratic corporate organization. The integration with the parent will slow the acquired organization down: the lack of innovative culture at the acquirer is killing for the acquired organization when it gets absorbed. The culture is a really important aspect which should not be underestimated in M&As.

In most cases, there will be a choice to either integrate or not. However, in some of the researched cases it was observed that there is not even a choice to either integrate or not. For instance, when the acquired organization went bankrupt or due to other external factors like (new) laws and regulations and when complying to these will bring high costs when keeping two separate organizations. Furthermore, when the commercial activities of the organization that gets acquired stops, as a result of the M&A, then there is also not really a point in having an autonomous organization and then this organization should be absorbed (integrated) as well. When deciding to integrate or not, there needs to be looked at the goals for performing the acquisition. It needs to be clear: what do we want to achieve with this acquisition and why should we integrate the organization (or why not)? The strategies of both organizations as well as which groups both organizations are targeting, need to be kept in mind during this. In the researched cases, the following reasons to absorb an acquired organization were observed:

1. Gain Synergy - During M&As the goal is always to reduce ambiguity. Therefore, synergy is one of the key factors why an integration is being performed. In terms of Enterprise Architecture, synergy is not particularly tied to only IT systems or applications, but also to business processes or business offerings/products. According to Mone (2018), only 13% of the distribution of synergies has exclusively to do with IT (the Technology and Information Systems Architecture) [41]:



Figure 4.1: Distribution of synergies during M&As

Thus, during an M&A there will always be looked for synergies, but in some cases synergy is not feasible. For instance, because the costs of the migration/integration will be way higher than the benefits gained from that synergy. An important thing here is that synergy must not result in slowing one of the two organizations down. What often happens is that when there is the aim to gain more synergy between a (smaller) child and its (larger) parent; this will slow the (smaller) child organization down. Two key criteria need to be kept in mind when trying to harmonize or integrate organizations (Enterprise Architectures):

- (a) Does it benefit the organization subject to the integration, often the acquired entity.
- (b) Does it benefit the parent organization, the organization that acquired the entity.

If both criteria are met, then it can be decided to pursue with the integration in order to achieve this synergy, otherwise there should be really thought about the fact whether an integration is beneficial. What often happens is that the parent organization is bigger, and therefore they think that they are better. However, as observed in a lot of the cases, integrating and harmonizing processes does not always improve the operations of the organization that gets integrated, instead it could slow them down and it can kill the innovative culture of the smaller organization.

- 2. **Reducing Cost-to-serve** Reducing costs is always an important factor in the integration decision. In a way this has a relation to gaining synergy.
- 3. Get Control When the acquired organization does not operate as it should be, for instance when it has a negative business case or when other things are getting out of hand, it could be decided to absorb the organization in order to pull the control to the parent organization.

When an organization is doing 'the right thing' and has everything under control, for instance when they are better organized or when they clearly are staying ahead of their owners, there is no need to fully integrate (absorb) it. In these cases, it is better to cooperate with each other instead of fully integrating (absorb) an organization straight away. During the integration question it is important to look at the business side. A Business Architecture needs to be developed and a look must be taken at the market in which the organization operates and what products and services it offers. Based on that, conclusions can be drawn. For instance, when adaptability is key, it might not be the best option to fully absorb an organization into a bureaucratic organization in which they are using (legacy) systems which are not suitable for this adaptability. Also suitability in terms of IT systems is an important aspect that needs to be kept in mind here.

In order to decide whether an organization should be integrated (absorbed) or not, a due diligence is often performed. A due diligence has multiple functions:

- 1. It functions as a risk assessment.
- 2. Determining the value and risk of IT in the organization.
- 3. Determining the entire value of the organization (beyond IT).

In larger M&As, a due diligence is usually performed as a risk assessment. In smaller M&As when a certain IT solution is being bought for instance, the due diligence will be more focused on IT quality. Risks that can occur from an IT perspective during a due diligence are for instance: bad software quality, too many external employees (knowledge), security risks, lack of innovative culture, network availability etc. A due diligence can help with mitigating these IT risks. Based on the due diligence, risks can come forward and together the organizations can work on plans to fix these issues. The researched cases are showing that that due diligences are often fragmented and are never depicting a complete overview. What happened in every researched case, is that during M&As, employees of the acquired organization are leaving and in general, the best employees are always the ones that will leave first. The knowledge of an organization resides inside the heads of these employees. This means that a lot of knowledge about processes, solutions, systems etc. will be lost. So, performing an adequate due diligence is challenging and almost impossible. According to Gartner, incomplete due diligence is a major pitfall for organizations during M&As [53]. Therefore, the integration question is hard to answer upfront. This has to do with inadequate due diligences, but also because in every M&A the selling story always looks better than the reality.

4.1.2 Stand-Alone M&As

In this section, general findings that are applicable specifically to Stand-Alone M&As (category 1 and category 3) are presented.

In terms of Enterprise Architecture, Stand-Alone M&As are not that intriguing. Stand-Alone organizations are operating as a separate organization with their own IT and business processes, but this does not mean that they are fully independent from their owners. Often, in Stand-Alone M&As, the acquirer and acquired entity had a strong collaboration/cooperation relationship. For instance, the acquired entity was discovering the possibility to join partnerships of the owner and they would look at what was available at the owner's side in terms of Business and IT. In the observed cases it was almost always possible to share technologies (cloud platforms or ERP systems) between the two. In addition, the two organizations can for instance align IT audits and IT Security with a shared control framework and shared security policies. In some cases this will be mandatory to do because of the applicable laws and regulations in force.

A Stand-Alone organization often has a high cost-to-serve and therefore the owner will always be looking for opportunities to reduce these costs by gaining synergies, because it is likely that there is some ambiguity between the two organizations. In Stand-Alone M&As, it is observed that this means that the M&A slowly transitions into an Absorption M&A, meaning that it will eventually be absorbed and fully integrated into the acquirer. This happens a lot because the strategy and the goals of the acquirer behind the initial reason to acquire the entity, were not clear upfront. Other reasons why this transition happens are described in the previous section: gaining synergy, reducing cost-to-serve, or in order to get control. It is important in Stand-Alone M&As to consider this transition scenario in the pre-merger stage, as it is a likely scenario that will have a massive impact on the total costs associated now (short-term) and in the future (long-term). To conclude, instead of having a short-term integration focus, the focus should rather be on the long-term.

4.1.3 Absorption M&As

In this section, general findings that are applicable specifically to Absorption M&As (category 2 and category 4) are presented.

4.1.3.1 Primary Research

From an Enterprise Architecture perspective, absorptive cases are the most interesting. In these M&As, where the decision is taken that the acquired entity gets absorbed (or integrated) and ceases to exist, there are three options of how the organization can be integrated from an Enterprise Architecture perspective:

- 1. Integrate into acquirer's architecture The architecture (business, processes and systems) of the acquired organization gets integrated into the architecture of the acquirer. This is the most common integration that happened in the researched cases.
- 2. Integrate into acquired entity's architecture The architecture of the acquirer gets integrated into the architecture of the acquired entity. This is not a common decision, but it could happen when an organization acquires a much bigger entity or when the acquired entity clearly has a more mature operating model and this option is feasible.
- 3. Create a 'new' architecture A third option is to start a 'new' bestof-breed organization that combines the best of both sides. In theory this is an option (and maybe even the most ideal option), but in reality this almost never occurs due to the hassle and costs involved: it is too expensive to build something entirely new. This option is also referred to as the 'Merger of Equals' approach. However, as discussed earlier in subsubsection 3.2.1.2 M&A Approaches, this type of integration seldom occurs, and essentially merger of equals can always be defined as either a take-over or acquisition; which essentially means that it comes down to one of the two previously described options.
To determine which of the integration options fits best during an M&A, the following must be considered:

- 1. Laws and market regulations Are there laws and regulations (and/or upcoming changes to those) that could have an effect on this integration. For instance, complying with certain regulations (e.g. GDPR, (J)SOX) requires some changes to certain processes and systems.
- 2. Maturity and Scalability of the Architecture (systems and processes) - To decide the integration strategy, there should be looked for the operating model which is more mature and easier to scale. Also reliability is an important aspect here. Factors to consider during this are:
 - (a) No or bad Life Cycle Management on current landscape (e.g. legacy systems).
 - (b) High degree of customized systems: the degree of customization in service or offerings of the acquired entity. How much does this differ from the acquirer and how can be dealt with this? Does it need to be harmonized with the acquirer or does it need to be kept separate which will come with a higher cost-to-serve? When a system is highly customized or it is a legacy system (or a combination of both), it is hard to migrate or upgrade it later on. These two points are important to keep in mind during the integration process and questions about this should be asked during this process.
 - (c) Degree of standardization: how standardized or common is the environment? E.g.: does it need people with special knowledge or skills? And did these people already left the organization?

To determine this, usually a due diligence is performed. As stated earlier this is often an inadequate due diligence. This means that during an integration, the new owners often get caught by a lot of surprises that did not show up pre-merger and which they were not aware of.

3. Process & System adoption - Always after choosing for certain (IT) systems or (IT) processes, the corresponding processes or systems need to be adopted as well. There should not be mixed/switched between systems and processes of two different organizations: do not decide to use the processes of organization A while going with organization B's IT systems. As observed in one case, processes and systems should not be mixed as this will end up in a mess. A fit-gap analysis can be performed on the processes of both organizations. This can determine what is being done at both organizations and then a decision can be taken on what must (not) be continued to do and what changes must be made. By doing this, the fit-for-purpose for every solution in both landscapes is being determined. Important here is to prevent making subjective decisions, which leads to the following point.

- 4. Prevent subjective decisions The integration strategy is an important decision. When making this decision, of which architecture (processes and systems) to use, there needs to be looked in an objective manner. When someone has put a lot of work in a certain system, it is likely that he/she would want to stick to that rather than moving to a different system that is more ready for the future. Subjective decisions like: "we have used this system for 10 years already", "I am used to it" etc. should be eliminated. The focus must be on the future and what we do want to achieve then. It is a straightforward point, but as the researched cases showed, this tends to go wrong a lot because of the ego and pride of certain people involved in making these important decisions. This is also caused by the clashes between cultures between the two organizations involved, which is a common thing in M&As. Reinicke (2016) described a risk/conflict which typically occurs during M&As that is related to this lesson learned: "During an M&A each side considers its systems and processes to be superior" [48].
- 5. Different standard or procedures regarding propositions Often the acquired entity uses different standards, definitions or procedures regarding propositions (products & services) in comparison to their acquirer. For instance, the two organization have a different view on what is a business and what is a private customer which can cause a lot of trouble. This is just one example, however there are multiple other examples of differences in propositions which can be thought of. It is important to harmonize this or at least try mitigating this risk. Different propositions or offerings are a major pitfall in M&As when gets decided to integrate (absorbed). Often is thought that using 1 process with 1 application (a uniform/harmonized process) is the best option, but this is not always true and this can cause conflicting strategies, especially during absorptive M&As. A best practice is to use guiding principles for the target organization and target operating model. When acquiring organizations, the unified target operating model can be used as a guidance. This gives room to standardize standard processes, but it also keeps the door open for processes that can not be harmonized. Harmonizing process that have to do with two (or more) different propositions is difficult and likely not going to work out.

The integration of an organization is not something that happens overnight. It will take some time and in the researched cases this differed from months to years. The duration of the integration has to do with how easy new employees are landing, processes are getting streamlined and synergies are achieved in propositions etc. In every Absorption case, that was subject to this research, it was observed that the integration plan deviated from reality. Most of the times, this happens because the integration was underestimated. Next to that, cost overrun is also a common phenomenon in absorption cases. There are a number of reasons why integrations do not happen smoothly in absorption M&As:

1. First of all, a lot of knowledge gets lost, because a lot of employees will

leave the organization. A common risk is that there are a lot of external employees, who often can easily leave their employer. In addition, a common thing is that there will be a lot of clashes between the cultures of the two organizations which also causes a lot of employee turnover which essentially means the loss of knowledge.

- 2. Next to that, there is often a lack of documentation, because most knowledge resides in the heads of the employees, rather than it being documented somewhere. This in combination with the turnover of employees causes a lot of trouble. This finding is backed up by Gartner which states that: "Often business processes and IT platforms at target organizations are partially documented and this gets overlooked during M&As" [53].
- 3. Also, a lack of knowledge about processes is a common thing. Employees tend to not see the full picture of what they are doing and often they are missing a lot of details of what is happening beyond their own scope.
- 4. Usually the integration strategy, during absorptive M&As, gets decided after the deal has been sealed. There is no strategy upfront, because the deal is often sealed from a financial perspective. That means that upfront there is not really a focus on integration questions from an Enterprise Architecture perspective.

4.1.3.2 Desk Research

A key lesson learned from the case of Cisco Systems, which has been discussed in subsubsection 2.3.2.4 Case Study: Cisco Systems, is that organizations should focus on reducing the number of integration problems, rather than becoming better at resolving them during the M&A process. The acquirer should identify those elements that could contribute to a difficult integration project and use its Enterprise Architecture capability to manage them [67]. Furthermore, the case study performed by Infosys concluded that, from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, before engaging in an M&A where the goal is eventually to integrate (absorption), an organization must be prepared for this by keeping the following in mind across all domains of Enterprise Architecture [32]:

- Business Architecture:
 - Align IT applications towards target business priorities and capabilities for the future enterprise. This helps strengthening the alignment between business and IT.
 - IT applications and services must have the right capabilities to support consolidated business processes. Infosys states that it is prudent to harmonize non-core or under-performing processes first [32].
 - Compliance with regulatory requirements (GDPR, (J)SOX etc.) of future business processes, applications and infrastructure.

- What is the business and IT strategy of both organizations and what are differences in culture. What does the future in terms of way of (digital) working look like?
- Information Systems Architecture (Data & Application):
 - Mitigate operational risks: is some sort of IT back-up prepared in case something goes wrong during the integration?
 - What is the degree of Shadow IT in the organization. For instance, burden and liabilities which can be good business solutions towards standardization and optimization, but are either not documented or the official way-of-working.
 - Renegotiating contracts of same software vendors for same software product licenses and support (e.g. SAP, AWS, Microsoft, Oracle etc.) or similar capabilities products from competing vendors.
 - How much control does the IT department have: are there uncontrolled applications or services within the organization? Or is everything strictly controlled by the IT department.
 - Integrate to enhance existing business capabilities. Eliminate ambiguity in applications and services for instance. Infosys states that organizations must determine if the current set of applications meets future QoS (Quality of Service) aspects like availability, maintainability, reliability and security. Points to keep in mind here are: new future total users loads, new countries, new time zones, multilingual capabilities, backup windows etc. [32].

• Technology Architecture:

- Know the IT assets (Apps, Infrastructure, Services, Skills-set) of the current and future target enterprise.
- Technology misalignments across current and future IT portfolios with respect to enterprise technology standards. Infosys states that: "Technology misalignments are relatively costly from overall maintenance and hence IT portfolio analysis can help to identify such misalignments and to lay out a roadmap to reduce the gaps. [32]."
- Enterprise technology debt: unsupported and legacy technology in the future IT portfolio (because of the integration).
- Consider industry specific architecture trends when deciding on the roadmap of the future enterprise.
- Re-define IT strategy, technology standards, and guidelines (principles) for acquired organizations before starting the actual integration. According to Infosys this helps avoiding confusion on deciding on technology stacks and right fit IT solutions, especially during M&As [32].

4.1.4 Enterprise Architecture Maturity

From an Enterprise Architecture perspective, the course of the M&A is tied to the level of maturity of the acquirer's and the acquired entity's Enterprise Architecture, which has been discussed in subsection 2.1.6 Maturity. Toppenberg et al. (2015) noted that the value created from M&As can be improved by drawing on an advanced Enterprise Architecture capability in the acquisition process [67]. According to Swindell (2015), Enterprise Architecture success factors for M&As include the following [58]:

- 1. A mature Enterprise Architecture function or framework.
- 2. A clear representation of your own organizational assets.
- 3. Acceptance of the value to be achieved from the Enterprise Architecture tools by the CEO and integration team.

All these factors essentially come down to the Enterprise Architecture maturity of an organization. In the end, it is all tied to the maturity of the Enterprise Architecture how hard (or easy) the M&A will turn out to be. During the researched cases, some best practices came forward for integrating Enterprise Architectures during M&As when a certain level of maturity is achieved. First of all, a best practice could be to establish a centralized generic platform at the parent organization's side with for instance large cloud platforms and ERP systems. Newly acquired organizations can easily join these platforms for the sake of the costs. Next to that, standardizing as much as possible in order to easily upgrade and add to the adaptability of the organization is a best practice that has to do with the maturity of the Enterprise Architecture. Additionally, child organizations should adhere to the target architecture and principles of the owners, for instance when working on two different cloud platforms. Finally, a best practice is to change the way of approaching solutions; an IT product needs be seen as a proposition that should be possible to integrate into a generic platform. A product does not need a dedicated back-end but should work on different platforms. In that way it would be possible to integrate platforms more easy. In other words, try to make your programs and servers generic so it does not matter on what platform they are running, but of course in this case working in the same stack will always lead to a cost benefit. To conclude, during an M&A, there always needs to be looked at what does the future architecture of the parent look like and how can the acquired platforms fit into that, or how can the acquired solutions be made to fit in that platform that the owner is using.

4.2 Category 1

In this section the empirical findings, which are specific to category 1 M&As, are being presented.



Figure 4.2: Category 1 M&A

4.2.1 Description

In category 1 M&As, the acquirer and acquired entity are performing the same or similar business activities and they are having the same or similar business capabilities. Therefore, these transactions are mainly aimed at expanding the customer base. However, the acquired entity remains a separate, stand-alone organization. When performing the same activities, it might seem odd to not integrate the organization, because in the end the two organizations are performing similar activities and therefore gaining synergies should be possible. There are multiple reasons why organizations decide to go for a stand-alone approach instead of an absorption approach in this case:

- 1. **Geographic Location** The acquired entity is located in a different country/region. Laws and market regulations play a role in why an absorptive approach is not feasible or attractive to perform. This often has to do with the high costs involved (e.g. taxes or high costs in order to be compliant etc.).
- 2. Multi-Label Strategy It has been decided that its necessary for the acquired entity to remain a separate brand. Reasons why this could be decided, is because the two organizations deploy different strategies in targeting customers and therefore separate brands are needed to capture market share.

As stated earlier in subsection 4.1.2 Stand-Alone M&As, it has been observed that in the researched cases, Stand-Alone M&As often transition into an Ab-

sorptive M&A later on. This is especially true for category 1 M&As, where the organizations have similar business capabilities and where similar business activities are being performed. At one certain point, the parent organization will always look into absorbing the child organization because of the high costto-serve for a stand-alone organization.

4.2.2 Impact on Enterprise Architecture

In this case, from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, the level of integration is minimal or not existent. The acquired entity will keep its own brand, own governance, management team etc.: it will remain a separate, stand-alone organization with its own processes and IT systems. So, there will not be any form of integration on Business, Information Systems or Technology Architecture and there is basically no impact on the Enterprise Architecture of the acquirer. However, this does not mean that the two organizations must completely operate as separate organizations. They can for instance align IT Security, IT audits, a shared control framework and shared security policies. Next to that, there could be looked into the possibility of sharing partnerships with certain (IT) suppliers. For instance, when the acquired entity is looking for a new IT platform, the first step that should be performed is that they will look at what is available at the owner: what are they using there and can we join them? Apart from that the organizations usually stay separate (otherwise it will be a category 2 M&A), and they are both responsible for their own IT infrastructure and processes. The relationship between the acquirer and acquired entity can be seen more as a collaboration/cooperation or an on arm's length relation, in which the acquirer will of course steer the organization, because in the end they are still the owner. However, in order to reduce costs, the owner will always look for some synergies, and that is why eventually these types of M&As are often transition into a category 2 M&A.

4.2.3 Findings

What often happens with category 1 M&As, is that they will eventually shift from a stand-alone organization to an organization that gets absorbed by its owner (a category 2 M&A). There are two reasons for this: the organization gets integrated to gain synergy and reduce ambiguity or the organization gets integrated in order to reduce costs because a stand-alone organization of course has a higher cost-to-serve in comparison to an organization that gets absorbed. Since, it is a horizontal M&A, the commercial activities and processes of the organizations are already similar, and therefore it is observed that the aim for reducing ambiguity, which brings a reduction of costs, is the main reason for this transition. This shift from stand-alone to absorption will lead to an autonomy conflict, because the organization will cease to exist. Therefore, long-term vision is key in these horizontal M&A deals where can be decided to either absorb the organization or keep it as a stand-alone organization. The following question needs to be asked: what does the world look like in 5 years and how must the business operate then? Instead of only focusing on the short term, the focus must be on the long-term in order to take a better decision about directly integrating the organization (or not).

4.3 Category 2

In this section the empirical findings, which are specific to category 2 M&As, are being presented.



Figure 4.3: Category 2 M&A

4.3.1 Description

In category 2 M&As, the acquirer and acquired entity are performing similar business activities. The acquired entity gets absorbed by the acquirer and ceases to exist as an independent, separate organization. These M&As typically involve the acquisition of a (smaller) competitor. The focus in these types of M&As is on growth through acquiring the customers of the acquired organization. As stated in subsection 2.2.5 Drivers of M&As, these types of M&As, where the focus is on expanding customer bases in existing geographic markets, are the most common and the main reason why an M&A is performed [10].

In fact, the entire organization will be acquired, but basically the acquirer will get rid of everything except for the customers. Therefore what tends to happen is that the focus is more on the business (or financial) side of the M&A rather than on the IT side. In these cases, the acquirer gets informed in some way, usually by investment bankers, about the fact that a certain organization is available for sale. These M&A deals have a short time period before the final decision must be made, thus what often happens is that the acquirer visits the organization that is up for sale to ask them questions and attend some presentations about how they are operating their business in terms of business and IT. Sometimes external parties are brought in order to support this, but mostly it will be just some visits to the organization with some sort of data room where a lot of questions will be asked to validate the organization on their IT and processes. There is a high level conversation about the architecture, for instance that there are a lot of external employees and what main systems are being used (SAP, AWS, Microsoft, Oracle etc.) This tends to be always an inadequate due diligence. Often, in these types of M&As, employees of the acquired organization are leaving. The knowledge of the organization usually resides inside of the head of these employees, so a lot of knowledge about processes, solutions, systems etc. gets lost. Thus, performing an adequate due diligence is challenging and almost impossible.

In the end, what usually happens, is on C-level they will look at how much customers the target has and how much the target will cost. Eventually a decision is taken whether the organization gets acquired or not. Thus, from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, IT does not really play a role in this decision; it is purely a financial/business decision. In the researched cases, IT did not have any impact on the final decision to acquire an organization or not, even though IT has a very big impact on the fact whether the M&A deal will turn out to be a success or not. The next thing that happens, is that people in both organizations are made aware of this deal. The management of the acquired entity gets replaced (or will leave voluntarily) and the next wave of employee turnover occurs as well. This is not typically a bad thing in these types of M&As, because it saves the costs of firing employees, but fact is that a lot of knowledge will be lost, because the employees will know a lot about what is going on in their organization. The focus in these types of M&As is purely on gaining customers, even though the acquirer could learn something from the processes and IT at the acquired entity, but they have a certain arrogance and therefore they are usually not interested in that. They think they are bigger and therefore better and therefore they just want to migrate the customers and move on.

4.3.2 Impact on Enterprise Architecture

Regarding the impact of these types of M&As on the acquirer's Enterprise Architecture, essentially these types of M&As are a data migration of customers. The impact on Enterprise Architectures during M&As are mainly caused by gaining synergies by harmonizing processes and integrating landscapes, both of this was not applicable in the researched cases for this type of M&A. There are some exceptions however, it could be possible for instance that systems of the acquired entity must be kept online because certain processes must be finalized or continue to run. What happens then is that these systems get archived and moved over to the acquirer's landscape and hey will be kept online for as long as necessary. Apart from that, in every case the main goal was: how can the customers from the acquired entity be moved over to the systems of the acquirer (or the other way round in some cases). From the integration types, which have been discussed in subsection 4.1.1 Integration Consideration, the first option is the most common in these types of M&As. The main focus is thus on migrating data (migrating customers). So, in this case performing expensive integration operations would be a waste of time and money, because there are already two similar organizations. Therefore, the best option is to integrate to the organization that is the most appropriate or most mature, and that is usually the acquirer. The acquired entity (in fact the customer data) will basically be moved over to the acquirer. So, in general, the impact on the Enterprise Architecture of the acquirer is very limited. When looking at the domains of Enterprise Architecture, something needs to happen on the Data Architecture level: how is this organized within the acquirer and the acquired entity and how can the customers be successfully migrated from the acquired entity to the acquirer's landscape? It helps if the acquired entity was already using the same CRM system as the acquirer. Apart from an impact on the Data Architecture, there is no impact on the Technology Architecture. In essence, the result of these types of M&A is that a number or customers get added to the systems of the acquirer. However, in some cases it was observed that there was an impact on the Business Architecture. For instance, sometimes it was necessary to keep offering propositions of the acquired entity that deviated from the acquirer's propositions. Since the acquired entity ceases to exist, this means that action must be taken on the acquirer's end in order to keep fulfilling these propositions.

4.3.3 Findings

4.3.3.1 Desk Research

In horizontal acquisitions where gets decided to integrate, as is the case in category 2 M&As, the focus is more on application rationalization and reduction in the Opex and Capex costs by eliminating redundant or duplicate systems owned by both organizations (ambiguity) according to Infosys [31]. Examples are product rationalizations, CRM, billing, and order management platforms, etc. which can be harmonized more easily. Practice shows that these IT consolidations are time-consuming and very costly. Also this is usually a process which will take years [31]. Infosys' states the following recommendations for integration in category 2 M&As [31]:

- **Business-driven** Use milestones (and business goals) to prioritize and phase the efforts for rationalization.
- **Innovation** Use the IT consolidation and rationalization not only as an opportunity to reduce ambiguity, but also to capitalize on projects such as data center consolidation and cloud transformation to enable new service lines and technologies by increasing customer intimacy and revenue through expanded insights, VR/AR, IoT and big data etc.
- **Future forward** Leverage cloud and architectures to simplify data and application transfer for future M&A and divestiture activities.

According to Strah and Taware (2017), data integrations (or migrations), which in essence these types of M&As usually are, will almost always exceed the estimated costs of the integration. By using enterprise data reference models, the structure of logical and physical data assets and data management resources within the enterprises can be identified [56]. They note that: "effective data governance can significantly reduce the efforts for data integrations and provide key foundations for cloud and infrastructure consolidation and transformation efforts that may result [56]."

4.3.3.2 Primary Research

- In these cases, customers get migrated from the acquired entity to the acquirer. Sometimes it is necessary (e.g. due to legal contracts) to keep offering the same products and services (propositions) as the acquired entity. It is logically to think that then the processes and systems will adhere to the standards/procedures of the acquirer. So, in other words, the processes of the acquired entity will be harmonized in order to fit in to the acquirer. However, in a lot of the researched cases, this was not always the case. The systems and processes must be suited to continue offering the products and services of the acquired entity.
- A pitfall can be the misalignment in the definition of propositions (products and offerings), for instance when dealing with private customers and business customers: where is a self-employed individual placed? A pitfall can be to maintain both definitions (of both organizations), however this will come back to haunt you and this will cause a higher cost-to-serve in the end. Therefore, when an organization continues to offer the services and propositions of the acquired entity, it needs some form of harmonization, and based on the research the conclusion is that this should happen right at the beginning. It is important that your systems and processes are suited to perform this harmonization.
- The last lesson learned is regarding dealing with ongoing work. Sometimes still work must be performed at the side of the acquired entity that stems from the past. For instance overdue payments, or other activities that can be traced back to the past. In order to facilitate this, old systems usually need to be kept online, but this is not always possible and then systems will be archived. Next to that, it is always the case that the acquired entity has contracts with customers. The acquirer must adhere to these contracts, which can also cause problems. Finally ongoing processes/changes or transactions need to be kept in mind during the integration, because it is not desired to disrupt the ongoing business.

4.4 Category 3

In this section the empirical findings, which are specific to category 3 M&As, are being presented.



Figure 4.4: Category 3 M&A

4.4.1 Description

M&As that are classified as a category 3 M&A, are transactions where the acquirer acquires an entity that is performing different business activities (and has different business capabilities) and where there is basically no or limited integration: the acquired entity stays a stand-alone, separate organization from its acquirer. These types of M&As are often performed in the following scenarios:

- Acquisition by a Conglomerate In case an organization gets acquired by a conglomerate, it usually has to do with a foreign acquirer, that is a reason why it is acquired with a stand-alone approach instead of an absorption approach.
- Acquisition of a Start/Scale-up A smaller start-up or scale-up gets acquired by a (much) larger organization that operates in a different business sector.

These types of M&As are often performed as strategic investments by the acquirer. The goal of these acquisitions is mainly to grow by getting access to new or existing markets and to learn from the new acquired organization by acquiring technology and talent (knowledge). Also the diversification (in terms of capital) is a reason for performing this type of M&A. In category 3 M&As there is usually a different relationship with the owners. The owner will for example take place in the supervisory board where the goals and strategy of the organization gets decided. This is how the owner controls or manages the organization. The owner sets goals and they support the strategy that the organization deploys as long as it goes well. If something goes wrong and/or goals will not be achieved, they tend to push for more control.

4.4.2 Impact on Enterprise Architecture

In terms of Enterprise Architecture, the organization will stay a separate organization with its own IT landscape, operations and independent business processes. From both an IT and business perspective there is not really an integration. In this type of M&A, there needs to be looked at the business, information systems, or technology architecture of both organizations and see if synergy can be achieved. Looking for synergies is an important aspect, but looking for synergies does not always mean that two separate organizations need to be fully integrated. Usually the technologies are not a problem or obstruction in this synergy question, but the procedures/business processes/the way-of-working are. In this type of M&A there is often not much room for gaining synergies, because the owner and child are performing too different activities from each other. Sometimes, HR processes and systems (like requesting leave etc.) and office automation (digital workplace: laptops etc.) of the acquirer is being adopted by the acquired entity because of the cost benefit, but that is not always necessarily the case. What also happened in both researched cases is that the acquired entity will look for available partnerships at the acquirer's side and it will be investigated whether they can join those partnerships for instance with large IT platforms such as cloud providers or ERP systems. A pitfall here is conflicting interests between the owner and the child.

In terms of technology or information systems architecture, there is not really any form of integration during these M&As and this stays separate. In category 3 M&As, the impact of the M&A on the business architecture would be related to the goals and strategy which are usually being set by the owners. Also culture in terms of business architecture is important, because conflicting cultures between the acquirer and acquired entity will lead often to employee turnover which will have a massive impact on the M&A, because a lot of knowledge will be lost. To conclude, the impact of M&As on the Enterprise Architecture usually has to do with synergies and harmonization. Synergies are not restricted to only the technology or IT side, but can also be gained on the business side. An example of where synergy can be gained on the business side in this type of M&A, is for instance with certain procurement activities which are applicable to both organizations.

4.4.3 Findings

• Category 3 M&As usually involve a conglomerate. It could be that the acquirer is a foreign entity. An important aspect of the M&A could then be complying with laws and regulations that are applicable to the owner. For instance, when the acquirer is located in a different country or operates

in specific sectors, it could be the case that it is necessary to explain how certain IT processes or change management (SOX) is being handled within the organization. This can have an impact on the Enterprise Architecture and might require changes in order to comply with these regulations.

• Category 3 M&As also could involve a start-up or scale-up. When acquiring a start-up or scale-up that performs different business activities (it has different business capabilities) and it stays a separate, independent organization (as is the case in category 3 M&As), this could be the true reason for their success. Due to being an autonomous organization, they could do their own thing, without needing to deal with the bureaucracy, procedures etc. of the acquirer. This is something that happens frequently when a corporate buys a smaller organization like a start-up or a scale-up. This bureaucracy is a big fear for smaller organizations when they will be acquired, because it will slow them down. In most businesses adaptability is key, and this is often something which a start-up or scale-up loses when getting absorbed by its owner.

4.5 Category 4

In this section the empirical findings, which are specific to category 4 M&As, are being presented.



Figure 4.5: Category 4 M&A

4.5.1 Description

Category 4 M&As involve an acquired entity that ceases to exist as a separate, independent organization. Since it is a vertical M&A, it involves the acquisition of an entity that performs different activities. The main reason for these deals are to enter new markets, expand products or services, acquire technology (solutions) or acquire talent (knowledge). Often, in these types of M&As, an organization is simply buying an entity for a specific solution that they do not have themselves: the typical make or buy decision. Practice shows, that organizations rather buy something than making or developing it in-house. Thus, the idea of this type of M&A is to either buy a solution. However, practice shows that in most cases organizations are buying the knowledge of the employees rather than a specific solution. This type of M&A often involves the acquisition of a start-up or scale-up. Due diligences in these cases are often fragmented and limited to some interviews with key knowledge holders. Category 4 M&As often (but not always) started as a stand-alone M&A, meaning that it was a separate entity (category 3 M&A) before being absorbed. Reasons why this transition happens, could be due to the fact that the organization did not live up to its expectations and the owner wants to reduce costs and/or get more control.

4.5.2 Impact on Enterprise Architecture

The impact of an M&A on the Enterprise Architecture usually has to do with gaining synergies. In these cases, when integrating an organization that performs different activities, they are likely to serve different segments with different propositions. It is important to look for synergies so that propositions could be integrated. However, this should not be forced: if there are no synergies to be gained, then there should not be integrated and harmonized if that means that the acquired organization can not fulfill its propositions anymore (unless it gets decided to discontinue the offering of a specific proposition). In that case, rather than aiming to gain synergies, the focus should be more on a 'advanced collaboration or cooperation' or the streamlining of certain processes/propositions. It will be more a search for cohesion rather than really gaining synergy, with different and conflicting propositions the latter, gaining synergy, is hard to do. In terms of impact on the Enterprise Architecture, apart from some specific processes and systems tied to specific propositions, the acquired entity will basically be 'plugged-in' into the owner: standard processes like HR, finance, IT (employee laptop etc.), customer care (market communications), are easier to integrate because what happened in all of the researched cases is that the integrated organization will just make use of what is already available at the owner. However, deviating processes specifically in place for certain propositions are hard to harmonize. The impact on the technology and information systems architecture depends on the need for certain systems and processes for delivering certain propositions. It could be that the acquired entity still needs some of its systems and processes in order to continue delivering some of its propositions, in that case it means that there will be an impact on the technology and information systems architecture. However, apart from that, the acquired entity is expected to just adhere to the processes and systems of that of its owner, that is why it gets absorbed. In terms of business architecture, in these cases there are always people that will leave the organization, because they will need to adhere to the processes of the owner and that is something that they are not always willing to do. Therefore, when looking at the domains of Enterprise Architecture, the most impact will be at the business architecture: the people and processes needed for specific propositions.

4.5.3 Findings

4.5.3.1 Desk Research

In case of a vertical M&A where gets decided to integrate, as is the case in category 4 M&As, Strah and Taware (2017) note that: "vertical integrations succeed when adopting multiple and parallel work streams that create both top- down and bottom-up roadmaps to address different revenue and business cycles of different organizations across industry verticals. Having core teams to address systems of record (reduce technical and architectural debt) and systems of engagement (innovate and introduce new capabilities) can also accelerate the pace of integration and ensure focus on innovation and business goals [56]." Based on their research, they have come-up with the following best practices for category 4 M&As [56]:

- Align service and offerings Align services and offerings with business architecture and business operation. In addition, create shared services with consistency at the core and agility at the edge.
- Infrastructure independent Applications Deploy infrastructure independent business applications and gain resource optimization across centralized and business led IT functions.
- **Data-driven Architecture** Data-driven architecture for customer services and products allows more changes (customization) via configuration and reduced time to market.
- Unifying services Enhance unified purchase and service path by decomposing the monolithic legacy core into smaller capabilities to deliver better digital experience.
- Aim for a Service Oriented Architecture In a vertical integration a best practice can be to deploy a hybrid approach of micro services for certain processes (updating catalog, order entry etc.). based on API first, interoperability, and standardized Integration. This is also known as a Service-oriented based architecture. In theory, this is an ideal option in vertical acquisitions, but as discussed earlier in subsection 2.1.6 Maturity this requires a high maturity of Enterprise Architecture deployment, something which is not the case in the majority (94%) of organizations.

According to Mack (2005), it is a critical factor to identify a new Enterprise Architecture when the difference is great between established operating models and the new one during M&As. The consolidation will have to provide the base for this new architecture, while supporting the current business process operation and its transition [37].

4.5.3.2 Primary Research

From the primary research, the document analysis and interviews, the following key lessons are learned from category 4 M&As:

- Buying a solution or knowledge When engaging in category 4 M&As, a lot of people tend to think that a specific (IT) solution is being bought when the organization gets acquired, but is that really the case? Most of the times the acquirer wants in fact the people with the knowledge that have built the solution, but this is often overlooked. When a lot of employees leave the acquired organization, which is a common effect of an M&A, the acquirer ends up with nothing. In these cases, it is important that the acquirer is aware of the fact whether they are buying a solution (i.e. a certain IT system) or that they are in fact buying knowledge.
- Scalability of solution When the acquirer is aware of the fact that a solution is being bought, rather than knowledge, it is key-crucial that this solution is scalable and mature, otherwise it will not work out. It also helps if the solution is a standard or common solution meaning that people with special knowledge are not needed. For instance, if a solution is built on Oracle; there are a lot of people who have experience with Oracle meaning that employee turnover (loss of knowledge) will not be that catastrophic. Next to that, timing can be a factor in this: if a solution gets integrated straight away at the beginning, research showed that it works better than working with solutions next to each other overtime.
- Culture is an important aspect of the integration Culture must not be underestimated, a lot of people will leave an organization due to conflicting cultures between their organization and that of the acquirer. If an innovative organization gets acquired and integrated in an incumbent parent organization, which is not really innovative, this will definitely not work out. In the end, knowledge comes from innovation and when buying innovation, the old culture needs to be maintained, otherwise the acquired organization will be killed and the deal will turn out to be a waste. The threat of conflicting cultures is one of the biggest challenges during these integrations, this can be purely "how are we getting along wise", as well as conflicting ways of working. For instance, when employees are used to having the responsibility to come up with solutions themselves, instead of getting told what the solution needs to be. The same goes for procedures around changes, in larger organizations this will conflict with what is normal in a start-up or scale-up. Culture is a very important aspect in an integration and a big risk is to underestimate the impact of conflicting cultures. Coping with conflicting cultures is an important factor for the success of the integration. In order to mitigate this risk, the following steps can be undertaken:
 - 1. Enforce no (major) change in way-of-working. The integration as well as the adaption of new employees takes some time. When ab-

sorbing an organization, the way-of-working in both organizations needs to be kept in mind and whether it fits in the new organization. For instance, the way-of-working in a start-up is completely different than in a big corporate. Dissolving teams is something that needs to be avoided and the lack of an innovative culture will be killing. When integrating a start-up or scale-up, it is important that the the culture does not get lost when absorbing these organizations into the acquirer. This can be done in two ways:

- (a) The culture of the acquired entity can be adopted in the organization of the acquirer. However, this means that it needs to be adopted in the entire (IT) organization of the acquirer, something which is not always feasible.
- (b) A twin organization can be created which essentially means that the two cultures are being kept next to each other within an organization.
- 2. Prevent corporate/enterprise characteristics like complex procedures for changes etc. Of course HR, procurement, IT (office automation) processes are always getting integrated so that is something that can simply not be avoided. The new employees should be given the time to adapt to this.
- Vision & long-term commitment A clear vision and long-term commitment during an M&A is important. Thus, how do both organizations look at the future, as well as why this M&A did take place. A major pitfall is that the owner has an unclear vision of what should happen to the organization they have integrated. This often happens when an acquirer integrates a former stand-alone organization (category 3 M&A) which got integrated because it had a negative business case for instance. It is important that there is a clear rationale behind the decision to integrate. This is key because it drives all of the following processes. If the acquirer is not clear about this, a risk is employee turnover and this often leads to a snowball effect that will lead to even more employees leaving the organization and therefore essentially knowledge will be lost. A clear vision is important because people want to identify themselves with the organization. Integrating two organizations with conflicting visions will neither work out as this will also lead to employees leaving the organization.

4.6 Validation

Two interviews have been conducted in order to validate the results of this research. In this section, the outcomes of these two interviews will be described.

4.6.1 Interview 1

The first interview was conducted during the research and was more focused on the approach of this research as well as general potential results that could come out of it. The interview deviated from the protocol which has been described in appendix F Validation Interview Protocol. The questions had been sent upfront to this individual, but apart from that he was mainly focused on what he wanted to say based on his knowledge, rather than discussing these questions.

First of all, the interviewee agreed with the chosen approach of this research by dividing M&As based on approaches and types, as is discussed in section 3.2 Category Selection: "So, yeah absolutely. I think to answer your first question: what do you think about this approach in terms of categorizing the types of M&As and trying to understand which ones they are and how they are occurring? I think it is smart because we then understand what is the purpose of the merger or the acquisition and what type or what is the approach to actually executing the M&A. And that will give us some insight into how the business model is going to change, what sort of integration needs to take place."

Besides that, the general impact and why so many M&As fail was discussed: "Even in the strong economic environment leading up the pandemic, 40 percent of corporate and private equity leaders reported that half of their $M \mathfrak{G} A$ deals fail to achieve any value. And then we also looked at what is the key factor in achieving success for any transaction and out of a plurality of responses, basically, effective integration was one of the keys to success. So this actually lends credence to your thesis topic and this idea around. can we improve $M \mathfrak{E} A$ activity through the inclusion of Enterprise Architecture in this process?" In the opinion of the interviewee, effective integration is one of the keys to success in an M&A. By knowing why so many M&As fail, it was discussed how M&A activity can benefit from IT and Enterprise Architecture. There are two challenges during M&As from an Enterprise Architecture perspective according to this interviewee: "1. IT struggles to establish clear expectations for technology benefits realization without an understanding of the overall organization strategy and 2. IT to spend too much time reducing the objectives of M&A delaying planning and realization of technology." The ultimate solution, according to this interviewee, was to identify capability instances that fast track integration plan. This goes hand in hand with the degree of how mature the Enterprise Architecture practice is within an organization, as is depicted in Figure 2.19 Four stages of Enterprise Architecture Maturity. When discussing more about the maturity of Enterprise Architecture, the interviewee agreed that this has indeed an impact on the success of an M&A because a more mature Enterprise Architecture will lead to a more effective integration: "Yeah, I would say you could draw a pretty strong correlation to why a lot of M&As are failing and one of the key factors in a successful transaction is the fact of effective integration."

4.6.2 Interview 2

The second interview was conducted as one of the last steps of this research. The protocol of this interview has been described in appendix F Validation Interview Protocol. All findings that have been discussed in the interview, as given in the

protocol, were findings that the interviewee recognized. In this section some of the results of this interview will be given.

A key finding of this research, regarding the impact of an M&A to the Enterprise Architecture, is that usually the technologies are not a problem or obstruction in this question, but the procedures/business processes/the way-of-working are. The interviewee told that: "The organizational part (i.e. Business Architecture) is always lagging behind the IT part (i.e. Technology & Information Systems Architecture)." According to the interviewee, this has to do with sensitivities, complexities but also compliance. In other words, this statement of the interviewee substantiates this key finding of this research. Next to that, The focus always tends to be laying more towards the 'hard' side of the M&A, so how can costs be reduced, what processes and systems will be used etc. However, a key finding of this research is that culture must not be underestimated. Culture can be seen as the sensitivities and complexities which the interviewee talked about.

The interviewee agreed on the finding that a more mature Enterprise Architecture will lead to easier dealing with M&As. This is applicable to both the acquirer and the acquired entity. What usually happens is that pre-merger, the acquirer will bring visits to the acquired entity and they will ask them a lot of questions about how they are running their business and IT. However, in most cases, these organizations will not have documented their IT properly. This in combination with another key finding of this research: people leaving the organization, will lead to the fact that there is an unclear overview. A mature Enterprise Architecture can be a solution here. The interviewee reacted: "In this trajectory, that we call discovery, we will ask questions about the IT landscape of the acquired entity, if they have even documented that in the first place. Usually this goes like: yes, explain it to us, but in most cases they have nothing and this is also caused by that fact that a lot of employees did already leave the organization at the time it got acquired. All these employees had knowledge about IT, processes etc. But usually due to a lack of time this was never really documented. In a mature organization this entire process would be different."

Next to that, it is important as an acquirer to not only focus on your own interests, but also to put yourself in the acquired entity's perspective. The acquired entity usually does not want to deal with all the fuss of an M&A. The interviewee noted: "We need to take into account that these organizations are not that keen to change their entire IT landscape. This means that we also have to set certain priorities in order to give them some space. Because in some cases it is not even desirable to integrate to our architecture, because the acquired entity will have better solutions themselves." This statement substantiates the key finding that integration is not by default the best option. A reason for this is that: "These organizations usually have more knowledge then the acquirer on certain aspects because they are already longer active in those markets." The acquirer also usually thinks that the M&A project is the most important thing for this acquired entity, but that is usually not the case, so sometimes forcing this integration is not in everyone's interest.

From an Enterprise Architecture perspective, the rationale of the M&A is also key-crucial. When deciding to integrate or not, there needs to be a clear rationale of why this entity will be acquired (or not) and why this entity will be integrated (or not). It needs to be clear: are we buying market share/customers, are we buying a specific solution and is this solution just a system or is it in fact really knowledge? The interviewee noted: "Yes, I agree, because in the end with just IT assets: you are nothing. If you do not manage to keep the people/knowledge behind those ideas, it is all a waste of time and money. In some cases this means that you need to give in on certain aspects." The interviewee described the following scenario which he dealt with in the past: "For example, nowadays there is not much custom-built software anymore. When you are acquiring an organization with software engineers that build custom software, you do not want to lose these people as a result of the $M \mathcal{C}A$. If they for example are working with iMacs, but your entire organization is on Windows, you need to give in, because otherwise it is guaranteed that they will eventually leave and then you will end up with nothing." This does not mean that these employees can do anything that they want, eventually they will also need to adhere to the acquirer's policies etc., however they need to landed smoothly within the organization in order to keep the knowledge and for letting them transfer these knowledge to other people.

Chapter 5

Discussion

In this chapter, discussions about this research will be made. It starts by giving a summary of the key findings of this research. After that, the research questions of this research will be answered briefly. Finally, the internal and external limitations of this research and potential future work will be discussed.

5.1 Summary of key findings

The course of an M&A transaction depends heavily on the context of the deal. However, based on this research, in which 12 M&As have been researched from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, general key findings can be discovered.

M&As are often mentioned in the same breath with integrating organizations by gaining synergy and harmonizing business and IT processes. The overestimation of the value of an M&A deal and the realization of synergies between the organizations are both one of the key errors made during M&As [2]. Fact is that 70 to 90% of the M&A transaction simply fails [23], and maybe that is caused by this status quo of always wanting to consolidate and gain synergy by integrating organizations. The existing research and literature also tends to see the term "Mergers & Acquisitions" often as a merger of equals and it is always focused on integration, gaining synergy and harmonization, and therefore the research and knowledge is mostly based on these aspects. This is also the reason why desk research was only included in the results of category 2 and category 4, because there is no focus on M&As when there is not a case of integration (Stand-Alone cases).

In this research, it became clear that integration was not always the best option in every case. Therefore, the key question must not be: how can we cope with the integration or how are we going to integrate Enterprise Architectures? But, should we even integrate in the first place? Or is it preferable to keep the entity a stand-alone organization and focus more on an extensive collaboration? It is important that there is a clear rationale behind the decision to integrate as well as the decision to acquire the organization in the first place. This is key because it drives all of the following processes. Next to that, it is also important to keep the interests of the acquired entity in mind, rather than only focusing on the acquirer's interests and priorities. The acquirer usually thinks that the M&A is the most important project for the acquired entity, however that is usually not the case. In this research it has been observed in most of the cases, especially in category 4 M&As, that integrating (absorbing) was not always the best option for the acquired entity which essentially means that it was also not the best option for the acquirer.

It is not that integrating is by definition a bad thing, it is for instance the most suitable option in category 2 M&As, where the focus is mainly on acquiring customers and market share. However, for those cases, it should be noted that when 'plugging-in' acquired organizations into the most suitable architecture, this is way better than looking for synergies and trying to integrate and harmonize separate architectures. In absorption cases, the acquired entity should be 'plugged-in' into the chosen architecture, processes and systems should not be mixed as the research showed that this will end up in a mess in most of the cases. If certain additional processes and systems are absolutely necessary to continue with in order to keep fulfilling certain propositions, of course these can be integrated (or added) into the acquirer's architecture. However, when integrating an entity into the acquirer's architecture, the architecture with the most suitable processes and systems, i.e. the most mature architecture or operating model, should be leading.

From an Enterprise Architecture perspective, the course of the M&A also has to do with the level (or degree) of maturity of the acquirer's Enterprise Architecture. In general, how more 'generic' (how more mature) your architecture is, the easier it will be to integrate newly acquired organizations into your architecture. This is also shown in the case of Cisco Systems which has been discussed in subsubsection 2.3.2.4 Case Study: Cisco Systems. The maturity of Cisco's Enterprise Architecture is they key to their growth-through-M&A strategy. Thus, how complicated (or easy) the M&A will turn out to be, has the do with the maturity of the acquirer's Enterprise Architecture as well as the Enterprise Architecture of the acquired entity.

The maturity of the Enterprise Architecture also has to do with the acceptance of it within an organization. In multiple cases, the involvement of Enterprise Architecture, or Enterprise Architects, during M&As happened as an afterthought rather than Enterprise Architecture being consulted upfront. This means that there will be no clear integration strategy upfront which is tied to the earlier finding about having no clear rationale for the integration.

In all researched cases, employees of the acquired organization were leaving the organization. In general, the best employees will always leave first. This means that a lot of knowledge, which resides in the heads of these employees, also gets lost. This had a massive impact on the integration strategy and the pre-merger stage. When engaging in M&As, this must be kept in mind as it touches all domains of Enterprise Architecture. Especially in category 4 M&As this pitfall must be kept in mind. In this type of M&A, often a certain (IT) solution is being acquired. However, as the research showed, is in fact really a certain solution (or system) being acquired or is it rather the knowledge (the people) behind the solution.

Apart from that, the impact of an M&A on the Enterprise Architecture usually has to do with gaining synergy and harmonizing processes. It has been observed that the technologies are usually not a problem or obstruction in this synergy question, but the procedures/business processes/the way-of-working are. Therefore, what has been observed in most of the cases, is that the most impact will be on the Business Architecture: the harmonization of propositions and processes, rather than on the Technology or Information Systems Architecture. This finding is substantiated by the distribution of synergies during M&As as shown in Figure 4.1 Distribution of synergies during M&As: only 13% of the synergies exclusively has to do with IT (Technology Architecture & Information Systems Architecture).

When looking at all stand-alone cases, key is to collaborate and (if possible) gaining synergies on standard processes like HR and office automation etc. and working together by joining partnerships for instance. Integrating these cases just because you are the owner, is not the way to go and it is observed that this will usually not work out. However, it has been observed that most of the stand-alone M&As will eventually transition into an absorption M&A, meaning that these stand-alone organizations will eventually be absorbed and fully integrated into the acquirer. Often, this happened because the strategy and the goals of the acquirer behind the initial reason to acquire the organization (the rationale) were not clear upfront. Other reasons why this happens is because the acquirer (the owner) wants to reduce costs and/or get more control.

When looking at absorption cases, cases where gets fully integrated, the focus always tends to be laying more towards the 'hard' side of the M&A: how can cost be reduced, what processes and systems will be used etc. However, a key finding of this research is that culture must not be underestimated. Reducing costs, integrating systems and harmonizing process is all fun, but in the end the 'soft' side, the people (the knowledge), the way-of-working and the culture, is also a key-crucial aspect that must not be underestimated. Furthermore, the integration of an entity is not something that happens overnight. The integration will take some time and in the researched cases this differed from months to years. On top of that, in every absorption case that was subject to this research, it was observed that the integration plan deviated from reality.

5.2 Research Questions

In this section, the research questions and main question of this research will be answered.

Research Question 1: What is Enterprise Architecture?

To conclude, there are a lot of different definitions of what Enterprise Architecture exactly is. However, in some way everything comes down to the following description: Enterprise Architecture is a coherent set of principles, methods, and models used in designing and comprehending the structure of an enterprise, including their business processes, information systems, and IT infrastructure [35]. Enterprise Architecture aligns the business and the IT landscape in organizations concurrently by managing the increasing system complexity [47].

In section 2.1 Enterprise Architecture of this thesis, Enterprise Architecture has been described more in depth and different aspects of Enterprise Architecture have been covered.

Research Question 2: What are Mergers & Acquisitions?

The term "merger" refers to the merging of two organizations where one new organization will continue to exist and the term "acquisition" refers to the acquisition of assets by one organization from another organization [20].

In section 2.2 Mergers & Acquisitions of this thesis, the definition and different aspects such as types and approaches to M&As have been described in depth. The reason for this question was to find out what types of M&As could be distinguished in order to perform a better targeted case study.

Research Question 3: What is the impact of Mergers & Acquisitions on an organization's Enterprise Architecture?

Based on the answer on the second research question, four types of M&As have been classified. For each of these four types, the impact on the Enterprise Architecture has been described in depth in chapter 4 Results.

In general, it can be noted that the impact of an M&A on the Enterprise Architecture turned out to be very limited. The impact of an M&A on the Enterprise Architecture usually has to do with gaining synergy and harmonizing processes. In two categories (1 and 3), there was basically no integration because the organizations would stay stand-alone organizations. In the other two categories (2 and 4), the integration was not really an integration as in gaining synergy and harmonizing processes, it was observed more to be like a plug-and-play: how can the acquired entity be 'plugged-in' into the acquirer's organization.

Research Question 4: What are challenges, best practices, pitfalls and strategies for dealing with Mergers & Acquisitions from an Enterprise Architecture perspective?

In chapter 4 Results of this thesis; challenges, best practices, pitfalls, and strategies for dealing with M&As from an Enterprise Architecture are described based on general findings, and category-based findings. Fact is that the majority of the M&As turns out to be a failure and therefore this research delivered a lot more pitfalls and challenges to keep in mind rather than best practices or strategies.

Main Question: How can organizations cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures in case of Mergers & Acquisitions?

The main goal of this research was finding out how organizations could cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures. In the beginning, it became quickly clear that not every M&A is the same. Therefore, in order to cope with them, different types of M&As must be distinguished in order to handle each individual case better. Therefore, it has been decided to classify different types of M&As based on the literature and available academic research regarding M&A. In chapter 4 Results of this thesis, general and category-based findings are given on how organizations can cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures in different categories of M&As. The most notable key finding from an Enterprise Architecture perspective would not be how can we cope with integrating, but should we even integrate in the first place?

5.3 Limitations

There are internal and external threats to the validity of this research which need to be mentioned. First of all, this case study has been conducted at one organization. All of the 12 researched cases involved this organization and every interview participant had a relation to this organization, as most of them were employees of this organization or were connected in a different way, for instance by working in subsidiaries (as a result of the M&A). This means that some sort of bias is already in place. If this exploratory research was conducted at a different organization, it is likely that some of the outcomes would be different. Next to that, this study being conducted at one organization, can cause that some specific results only apply to that organization or to the specific sector in which the organization operates, in this case that would be the energy sector. In order to try mitigating these limitations, two interviews have been conducted with individuals outside of the environment in which this study was conducted.

There are also some limitations which are tied to the selection of interviewees. In all of the 12 researched cases, as stated in the results, it was observed that people were leaving the organization at the announcement of the M&A deal or later on in the M&A process. Logically, this also involved people who could have been interesting to interview because of their affinity with Enterprise Architecture. However, because of people leaving the organization, it was not possible to always interview everyone involved during the M&A process at the time. Next to that, the host organization always allocated just one Enterprise Architect on a certain M&A project. This means that in most cases only one person had knowledge about a case from an Enterprise Architecture perspective. In order to mitigate this, also a document analysis was being performed. However, as can be seen in Research Methodology chapter of this thesis, this was not possible to do in some of the cases. On top of that, the available documentation, that would be interesting to analyze from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, was also very limited in all cases where a document analysis was possible.

5.4 Future Work

As described in the previous section, this case study has been performed in one environment and all examples involved the same organization. Logically, in future research it can be useful to conduct this research in other environments, in order to determine whether these results are applicable there as well.

In addition, future work could entail more in-depth categories. The categories in this researched were based on two dimensions: Approach and Type of M&A. It was observed in some of the cases that size could also be a difference. So, future work could be to include a size aspect to the selection of categories. Next to that, some cases did not really fit fully in the approach they were mapped to. In some occasions, there was not really a case of a case being either 100% a Stand-Alone or 100% Absorption, but more somewhere in between. Future work could also entail a more specified dimension of approaches to M&As.

Chapter 0

Conclusion

The main goal of this research was to find out how organizations can cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures in case of M&As. M&As are believed to be one of the toughest phenomenons organizations have to deal with and the fact that 70 to 90% of the M&A transactions turns out to be a failure [23], speaks already for itself. Coping with integrating Enterprise Architectures during M&As, starts by distinguishing the different types of M&As which an organization can engage in. This research showed that different types of M&As can be distinguished and it has been discussed how each of these types requires different action to be taken from an Enterprise Architecture perspective. This is an unique approach, as previous literature and research tends to see M&As as just one single phenomenon where the focus is mainly on gaining synergy and the consolidation, harmonization or the integration of Business and IT systems and processes. Furthermore, when coping with integrating Enterprise Architectures during M&As, the first question that must be asked is: should we even integrate (Absorption) in the first place or is it better to keep the acquired organization separate (Stand-Alone)?

Based on the available literature and academic research regarding types and approaches to M&As, four categories of M&As have been classified. In essence, all possible M&A transactions that occur can be plotted on this model which classifies four categories of M&As. 12 M&A transactions were subject to this research. All of these 12 M&A transactions have been classified as being one of the four categories. For every category, based on at least 2 cases of an M&A transaction, the impact on the Enterprise Architecture, challenges, best practices and common pitfalls from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, have been described based on experiences gained in the past. Fact is that the majority of the M&As turns out to be a failure and therefore this research delivered a lot more pitfalls and challenges to keep in mind rather than best practices. However, in the end this research created some sort of lessons learned/handbook for future M&As. Nevertheless, it must be noted that it is not a full prescribed handbook or process of how exactly must be dealt with M&As from an Enterprise Architecture perspective. This is basically impossible to make given the finding that the context of every M&A is key-crucial as a lot of variable factors play a role in an M&A transaction, amongst which the maturity of Enterprise Architecture is found to be a key factor. In addition, there are some improvements and suggestions provided for future research in section 5.4 Future Work. To conclude, this study gave a good idea of what could go wrong and what points should be kept in mind from an Enterprise Architecture perspective when engaging in future M&As.

6.1 Reflection

I am ending this thesis by taking the opportunity to briefly reflect on the entire process of conducting this research and writing this thesis. I am very happy with what I have achieved in the end and I am also extremely proud given the current circumstances: this entire research has basically been conducted remotely from my bedroom without any physical contact whatsoever. Upfront, I had no idea what to expect as an outcome of this research and whether it would even deliver something meaningful. Therefore, in the beginning, I was more focused on the approach and the methodology rather than on what eventually the result was going to be. Next to that, my understanding of what Enterprise Architecture entails and what considerations can be made during M&As, was quite different from how it turned out to be in practice. I would have expected that it had more to do with architecture reference models for instance. However, as the research progressed, I started more and more to get a feeling of this and in the end I am convinced that I delivered something meaningful. When reflecting purely on the results and key findings, I had expected that the difficulties and challenges would be more on the Technology Architecture side rather than the Business Architecture side including the people, culture, procedures, the processes and way-of-working etc. This can also be caused by the fact that prior to this research, I considered an M&A more to be like a 'Merger of Equals'. In case of a true 'Merger of Equals', the impact on the Enterprise Architecture is much bigger than in take-overs or acquisitions, especially on the technology and data domains of Enterprise Architecture, because in this case there would be much more ambiguity because there are two 'equal' organizations. However, as is discussed in subsubsection 3.2.1.2 M&A Approaches, these types of M&As do basically not exist and therefore the impact of an M&A on the Enterprise Architecture, as well as the results of this research, are quite different from what I expected. Furthermore, even though my knowledge about this topic was limited upfront, I would have said always integrating during M&As is just a given and of course this should always happen, but now I beg to differ with this. Lastly, I have tried to create a model, similar to the model in Figure 3.1 The Category Selection Model, with some sort of an overarching summary of the results, but this turned out to be too reductive and therefore I have decided to not include such a model in the end.

Bibliography

- [1] P. Allega. Hype Cycle for Enterprise Architecture, 2020.
- [2] P. Allega and D. Weiss. Supporting the MADness: Enterprise Architecture's Role in Mergers, Acquisitions and Divestitures, 2007.
- [3] J. Alluru and M. Thomas. Can a merger of equals truly exist? Strategic Direction, 32:40–42, 06 2016.
- [4] ArchiMetric. What is TOGAF, 2020. https://www.archimetric.com/ what-is-togaf/, Accessed: 24-03-2021.
- [5] D. Aron, M. Mesaglio, and G. Albornoz-Allsop. Mergers and Acquisitions: Integration Without Tears, 2014.
- [6] S. Bernard. An Introduction to Enterprise Architecture (2nd edition). Bloomington, Indiana: AuthorHouse, 2005.
- [7] S. Buckl and C. Schweda. On the State-of-the-Art in Enterprise Architecture Management Literature. Technical Report, Chair for Software Engineering of Business Information Systems. Technische Universität München, 2011.
- [8] R. Burgelman and R. McKinney. Managing the strategic dynamics of acquisition integration: Lessons from HP and Compaq. *California Management Review*, 48(3):6–27, 2006.
- [9] R. Calipha, S. Tarba, and D. Brock. Mergers and Acquisitions: A review of phases, motives, and success factors. Advances in Mergers and Acquisitions, 9:1–24, 2010.
- [10] J. Cherowbrier. United States: strategic drivers for M&As 2017 and 2018, 2018. https://www.statista.com/statistics/950674/united-statesstrategic-drivers-for-mergers-and-acquisitions/, Accessed: 24-03-2021.
- [11] C. Coghill. How Enterprise Architecture can reduce risk in Mergers and Acquisitions, 2020. https://www.modernanalyst.com/Resources/ Articles/tabid/115/ID/5524/How-Enterprise-Architecture-canreduce-risk-in-Mergers-and-Acquisitions.aspx, Accessed: 25-03-2021.

- [12] Connell Curtis Group. Business Growth Consulting: The Importance of Mergers and Acquisitions, 2012. http://www.connellcurtis.com/ business-growth-consulting-the-importance-of-mergers-andacquisitions/, Accessed: 25-03-2021.
- [13] Consultancy Nederland. Aantal fusies en overnames stijgt voor zesde jaar op rij, 2020. https://www.consultancy.nl/nieuws/27823/ aantal-fusies-en-overnames-stijgt-voor-zesde-jaar-op-rij, Accessed: 12-11-2020.
- [14] Corporate Finance Institute. Overview of the M&A Process, 2020. https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/knowledge/ deals/mergers-acquisitions-ma-process/, Accessed: 07-01-2021.
- [15] Corporate Finance Institute. What are Mergers & Acquisitions (M&A)?, 2021. https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/ knowledge/deals/mergers-acquisitions-ma/, Accessed: 07-01-2021.
- [16] D. Crystal. The Cambridge Encyclopedia of Language, 2nd edition. Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- [17] G. Downes. Enterprise Architecture and IT Governance Considerations for Mergers & Acquisitions in Integrating Sarbanes-Oxley. *The Journal of Enterprise Architecture*, 04(01):41–61, 2008.
- [18] M. Dudas and P. Tobisson. Information Systems Integration in Mergers and Acquisitions An Enterprise Architecture Perspective, 2007.
- [19] E. Eichhorn and D. Kutnick. 2019 Research Roundup for Mergers, Acquisitions and Divestitures, 2019.
- [20] M. Evans. Course 7: Mergers & Acquisitions (part 1). Excellence In Financial Management. Excellence in Financial Management, 2000.
- [21] K. Fischbach, D. Simon, and D. Schoder. Enterprise Architecture management and its role in corporate strategic management. *Information systems* and e-business management, 12(1):5–42, 2014.
- [22] A. Freitag and C. Schulz. Investigating on the role of EA management in Mergers & Acquisitions - Initial findings from a literature analysis and an expert survey. 2nd International symposium on business modeling and software design (BMSD), 2012.
- [23] S. Gallagher. Increasing The Odds Of Success In A Merger, 2018. https://chiefexecutive.net/increasing-odds-success-merger/, Accessed: 25-03-2021.
- [24] Gartner. Enterprise Architecture (EA), 2020. https://www.gartner.com/ en/information-technology/glossary/enterprise-architectureea, Accessed: 07-01-2021.

- [25] J. Gerds and G. Schewe. Post Merger Integration: Unternehmenserfolg durch Integration Excellence. *Berlin: Springer-Verlag*, 2009.
- [26] J. Haleblian, C. Devers, G. McNamara, A. Carpenter, and R. Davison. Taking Stock of What We Know About Mergers and Acquisitions: A Review and Research Agenda. *Journal of Management*, 35(3):469, 2009.
- [27] C. Hill and G. Jones. Strategic Management: An Integrated Approach (6th ed.). *Houghton Mifflin Company*, 2004.
- [28] J. v. Houwelingen. Relevance and Usability of Enterprise Architectures during Post Merger IT Integrations, 2008.
- [29] IMAA Institute. Post-Merger And Acquisition Integration In An Enterprise Solutions Environment, 2021. https://imaa-institute.org/ post-merger-and-acquisition-integration-in-an-enterprisesolutions-environment/, Accessed: 14-04-2021.
- [30] Informatica. An Introduction to the BOST Framework and Reference Models, 2014. https://www.informatica.com/content/dam/informaticacom/en/collateral/white-paper/Introduction-to-BOST-Framework-Reference-Models-whitepaper_2753.pdf, Accessed: 08-01-2021.
- [31] Infosys. Horizontal communication integrations trends and impact on IT architecture, 2017. https://www.infosysblogs.com/enterprisearchitecture/2017/01/horizontal_communication_integ.html, Accessed: 14-04-2021.
- [32] Infosys. Is your IT team ready for M&A, Demerger Business Events?, 2017. https://www.infosysblogs.com/enterprise-architecture/2017/01/ is_your_it_team_ready_for_ma_d_1.html, Accessed: 14-04-2021.
- [33] S. Kim. Ad deal collapse busts 'merger of equals' myth, 2014. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-mergerofequalsidUSBREA4H04N20140518, Accessed: 15-04-2021.
- [34] J. Korhonen and W. Molnar. Enterprise Architecture as Capability: Strategic Application of Competencies to Govern Enterprise Transformation, volume 1. IEEE, 2014.
- [35] M. Lankhorst. Enterprise Architecture at Work: Modelling, Communication and Analysis. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 2017.
- [36] H. Levy and M. Sarnat. Diversification, Portfolio Analysis and the Uneasy Case for Conglomerate Mergers. *The Journal of Finance*, 25:795–802, 1970.
- [37] R. Mack. IT Handbook on Mergers, Acquisitions and Divestitures, 2005.
- [38] P. Martin and B. Turner. Grounded theory and organizational research. The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science, page 22(2):141, 1986.

- [39] J. McKendrick. Enterprise architects, the new heroes of mergers and acquisitions, 2021. https://www.zdnet.com/article/ enterprise-architects-asked-to-take-the-lead-with-mergersand-acquisitions/, Accessed: 25-03-2021.
- [40] C. McNamara. General guidelines for conducting interviews, 2009. http: //managementhelp.org/evaluatn/intrview.htm, Accessed: 22-01-2021.
- [41] L. Mone. Realizing Post Merger Synergies with Enterprise Architecture, 2018. https://www.leanix.net/en/blog/realizing-post-mergersynergies-with-enterprise-architecture, Accessed: 13-04-2021.
- [42] T. Moser and M. Williams. The Art of Coding and Thematic Exploration in Qualitative Research. *International Management Review*, 15(1):11, 2019.
- [43] S. Mrdalj and L. Urbaczewski. A comparison of Enterprise Architecture Frameworks. Issues in Information Systems, 7(2), 2006.
- [44] E. Niemi and S. Pekkola. The Benefits of Enterprise Architecture in Organizational Transformation. Business & Information Systems Engineering, 62:585–597, 2019.
- [45] W. Noh and D. Yellin. Using Enterprise Architecture standards in managing Information Technology. Journal of Management Information Systems, 23(3):163–207, 2007.
- [46] T. Olasvrud. What is data architecture? A framework for managing data, 2020. https://www.cio.com/article/3588155/what-is-dataarchitecture-a-framework-for-managing-data.html/, Accessed: 24-03-2021.
- [47] R. Perez-Castillo, F. Ruiz, M. Piattini, and C. Ebert. Enterprise architecture. *IEEE Software*, 36(04):12–19, jul 2019.
- [48] R. Reinicke. Successful IT Integration for Mergers & Acquisitions, 2016. https://www.leanix.net/en/blog/successful-it-integrationfor-mergers-acquisitions, Accessed: 25-03-2021.
- [49] B. Robertson and D. Weiss. Enterprise Architecture Road Maps: Closing the Gap to the Future State, 2006.
- [50] J. Ross, P. Weill, and D. Robertson. Enterprise Architecture as Strategy: Creating a Foundation for Business Execution, 2006.
- [51] J. Saldana. The coding manual for qualitative researchers. London: Sage Publications, 2009.
- [52] A. Schulte. IT Primer on Mergers and Acquisitions, 2017.
- [53] A. Schulte. Major Pitfalls in Mergers, Acquisitions and Divestitures, 2017.

- [54] Y. Sik Cho and K. Ah La. The impact of organizational citizenship behavior on synergy creation in Mergers and Acquisitions, according to levels of OCB and types of M&A. Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies Journal, 18(2):22(2)-141, 2014.
- [55] J. Stoll. In 'Mergers of Equals,' One Side Is Always a Bit More Equal, 2019. https://www.wsj.com/articles/in-mergers-of-equalsone-side-is-always-a-bit-more-equal-11560528068, Accessed: 15-04-2021.
- [56] M. Strah and V. Taware. Telecom vertical acquisition and approach for enterprise architecture, 2017. https://www.infosysblogs.com/enterprisearchitecture/2017/01/telecom_vertical_acquisition_a.html, Accessed: 14-04-2021.
- [57] A. Strauss. Qualitative analysis for social scientists. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- [58] A. Swindell. EA for M&A Building your Architecture Capability, 2015. https://www.irmconnects.com/ea-for-ma-building-yourarchitecture-capability/, Accessed: 25-03-2021.
- [59] T. Tamm, P. Seddon, G. Shanks, and P. Reynolds. How Does Enterprise Architecture Add Value to Organisations? *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 28(01):141–168, 2011.
- [60] The Open Group. Architecture Principles, 2013. https:// pubs.opengroup.org/architecture/togaf9-doc/arch/chap20.html, Accessed: 13-01-2021.
- [61] The Open Group. Architecture Viewpoints, 2013. https:// pubs.opengroup.org/architecture/archimate2-doc/chap08.html, Accessed: 13-01-2021.
- [62] The Open Group. Introduction Content Framework, 2013. https:// pubs.opengroup.org/architecture/togaf91-doc/arch/chap33.html/, Accessed: 13-01-2021.
- [63] The Open Group. Relationships Between Core Layers, 2013. https:// pubs.opengroup.org/architecture/archimate3-doc/chap12.html, Accessed: 13-01-2021.
- [64] The Open Group. the TOGAF Standard, Version 9.2, 2018. https: //pubs.opengroup.org/architecture/togaf9-doc/arch/, Accessed: 06-01-2021.
- [65] The Open Group. the TOGAF Standard, Version 9.2, 2018. https:// pubs.opengroup.org/architecture/togaf9-doc/arch/chap02.html, Accessed: 24-03-2021.

- [66] The Open Group. ArchiMate 3.1 Specification, 2019. https:// pubs.opengroup.org/architecture/archimate3-doc/chap01.html, Accessed: 22-01-2021.
- [67] G. Toppenberg, S. Henningsson, and G. Shanks. How cisco systems used enterprise architecture capability to sustain acquisition-based growth. *Copen*hagen Business School, 14:151–168, 01 2015.
- [68] A. Umar. Enterprise Architecture and Integration Using SOA, 2010. http://www.ngesolutions.com/strap/IS-Architectures-Integration-SOA.pdf, Accessed: 13-01-2021.
- [69] Web Age Solutions Inc. What is BIZBOK?, 2020. https://www.webagesolutions.com/blog/what-is-bizbok, Accessed: 24-03-2021.
- [70] A. West and H. Sarrazin. Understanding the strategic value of IT in M&A, 2011. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/strategy-andcorporate-finance/our-insights/understanding-the-strategicvalue-of-it-in-m-and-38a#, Accessed: 25-03-2021.
- [71] S. Zaheer, M. Schomaker, and M. Genc. Identity versus culture in mergers of equals. *European Management Journal*, 21(2):185–191, 2003.

Appendix A

Interview Protocol

Due to the current restrictions, all interviews have taken place online via Microsoft Teams. During the interviews, a slide deck was used that functioned as an interview protocol. At the start of the interview, the slides would be presented to the participants. This slide deck, containing 5 slides (4 slides and a title slide which is not included in this appendix as it is not of any added value), started with the context (types of M&As, approach to M&As and a description of the cases) and explaining the goal of this research. This followed by a brief description about the interview itself and eventually the questions. The interview questions on slide 4 were not visible for the participant during the interview, after the third slide, the slides would not be shared anymore. In total, 13 interviews took place for this research. A detailed overview of the interviews can be found in subsection 3.3.4 Interviews. Below, the slides of the interviews are given:

Context

- The goal is to find out how organizations can cope with integrating Enterprise Architectures in case of Mergers & Acquisitions. We will focus on experiences and knowledge gained (best practices, pitfalls etc.) from cases in the past. The aim is to learn from these experiences and to set guidelines for the future.
- There is not just one type of M&A, therefore we will focus on four different cases based on different types and approaches to M&As;
 - Types of M&As;
 - Horizontal M&A The target organization, which is subject to a Merger or Acquisition, is performing similar business activities as its acquirer. (e.g.: when acquiring a (smaller) competitor)
 - Vertical M&A The target organization, which is subject to a Merger or Acquisition, is performing different types of business
 activities in comparison to its acquirer. (e.g.: when acquiring an organization more up- or downstream in the supply chain)
 - Approaches to M&As;
 - Absorption The organization that will be acquired (the target) is completely absorbed by the acquirer. The business processes
 of the acquirer dominate, and the acquired organization must adopt these.
 - Stand-alone The acquired organization remains independent from its acquirer. The acquired organization remains a separate, stand-alone organization with only some integration of support services (phones, laptops, networks, data centers etc.) to achieve for example economies of scale

Cases Example (C) Example (A) Example (D) Horizontal Case 1 Case 2 Example (E) Example (B) Example (F) M&A Туре Example (I) Example (J) Example (G) Vertical Case 3 Case 4 Example (K) Example (H) Example (L M&A Approach Absorption Stand-Alone

Case 1:

In this case, the target organization operates in a similar business sector, meaning that it performs similar business activities as its acquirer. The target organization will be acquired/merged with a stand-alone approach meaning that the target organization remains independent from its acquirer. The acquired organization remains a separate, standalone organization.

Case 2:

Labe 2: In this case, the target organization operates in a similar business sector, meaning that it performs similar business activities as its acquirer. The target organization will be acquired/merged with an absorption approach. This means that the target organization is completely absorbed by the acquirer. The business processes of the acquirer dominate, and the acquired organization must adopt these.

Case 3:

In this case, the target organization performs business activities that differs from its acquirer. The target organization will be acquired/merged with a stand-alone approach meaning that the target organization remains independent from its acquirer. The acquired organization remains as exparate, stand-alone organization.

Case 4:

In this case, the target organization performs business activities that differs from its acquirer. The target organization will be acquired/merged with an absorption approach. This means that the target organization is completely absorbed by the acquirer. The business processes of the acquirer dominate, and the acquired organization must adopt these.

4

Interview Protocol

- Approximate duration of the interview is 1 hour.
- I want to recorded the interview in order to transcribe the interview later, on do you agree with that (yes/no)?
 - Afterwards the recording will be removed.
- The transcript of the interview will be anonymized.
 - · In the final thesis no individuals (or organizations) will be mentioned.
- Do you have any remaining questions before we start?

Case Questions

- · Can you recall why this approach (stand-alone or absorption) was chosen in this case? Was it chosen from an EA perspective, or was EA not consulted for this decision at all?
 - Do you (still) agree with this approach, or would you have chosen a different one?
- How was the integration of Enterprise Architectures dealt with in this case (for example focus first on process harmonization, application landscape etc.)?
 - What was the impact? What happened/changed?
 - Business Architecture
 Data and Application Architecture
 Technology Architecture
 - Was there even a case of integration?
- What were best practices or strategies for performing this integration of Enterprise Architectures in this case?
 - In other words, what actions would you repeat if you'd need to do this again?
- What challenges were faced in this case for dealing with the integration of Enterprise Architectures? And what do you believe were pitfalls in this case?
 - For example, what has been done that you wouldn't do again / or do differently in the future?

$A_{\text{Appendix}} B$

Interview Transcripts

All interview transcripts are delivered separately with this thesis.



Codebook

The full codebook is delivered separately with this thesis.

Appendix D

Themes in the Data

The themes found in the data related to Category 1 M&As:



The themes found in the data related to Category 2 M&As:





The themes found in the data related to Category 3 M&As:







Memos

All memos are delivered separately with this thesis.

Appendix _

Validation Interview Protocol

- Approximate duration of this interview is 30 minutes.
- I want to record the interview in order to transcribe the interview later on, do you agree with that (yes/no)?
- Afterwards the recording will be removed.
- The transcript of the interview will be anonymized.
- In the final thesis no individuals (or organizations) will be mentioned.
- Do you have any remaining questions before we start?
- 1. What is your experience with Enterprise Architecture in combination with Mergers & Acquisitions?
- 2. During M&As, from an Enterprise Architecture perspective, the main focus is usually on integrating, consolidating etc. Do you recognize this and do you think that we should not ask how do we integrate, but should we even integrate? The rationale (vision and long-term commitment) must be clear of the M&A, for instance are we buying a solution or knowledge, or just customers (market share) etc.?
- 3. Reasons to integrate an organization are: gaining synergy, get control, reducing cost-to-serve. Usually, a due diligence is performed upfront. Of course, the context is very important, but overall do you think that integration is always the best option or maybe keeping it a stand-alone organization?
- 4. In case of absorbing, or integrating, is it really about consolidating and gaining synergy, or more like a plug-and-play. For instance, the entity that takes over has already a lot available and we basically plug the acquired entity into that? Three options here are:
 - Use acquirer's architecture
 - Use acquired architecture
 - Create a new architecture

Keeping laws & regulations and maturity & scalability of architecture in mind.

5. The impact of an M&A on the Enterprise Architecture has to do with gaining synergy and harmonizing processes. Usually the technologies are not a problem or obstruction in this synergy question, but the procedures/business processes/the way-of-working are. This is also cause by people leaving the organization and a lack of documentation. How do you experience this?

- 6. In Absorption cases, the focus always tends to be laying more towards the 'hard' side of the M&A, so how can we reduce costs, what processes and systems are we going to use etc. But a key finding of this research is that culture and employee turnover must not be underestimated. Reducing costs, integrating systems and harmonizing process is all fun, but in the end the 'soft' side. Do you agree with that based on your experience?
- 7. In stand-alone cases, key is to collaborate and gain synergies on standard processes (if possible) and working together with partnerships for instance. Wanting to integrate these cases just because you are the owner is not the way to go. Do you agree or disagree with this based on your experiences?
- 8. Thus, how complicated (or easy) the M&A will turn out to be, has the do with the maturity of your Enterprise Architecture and also the degree of acceptance of Enterprise Architecture. What is your opinion about this statement?

Appendix G

Validation Interview Transcripts

All the transcripts of the validation interviews are delivered separately with this thesis.